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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549 
Form 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2014 
or

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the Transition Period From __________  to __________                    
Commission File Number 001-32887 
VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 11-3547680
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(IRS Employer
Identification No.)

23 Main Street,
Holmdel, NJ 07733

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (732) 528-2600
(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report): Not Applicable

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x  No  o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit and post such files).    Yes  x    No  o
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or
a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. Check one:

Large accelerated filero Accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer o  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act).    Yes  o  No  x
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable
date.
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Class Outstanding at October 31,
2014

Common Stock, par value $0.001 205,486,007 shares
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Part I – Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements
VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value) 

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Assets (unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $59,368 $84,663
Marketable securities 4,622 —
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $769 and $683, respectively 22,048 19,649
Inventory, net of allowance of $104 and $229, respectively 7,651 10,584
Deferred customer acquisition costs, current 4,324 4,991
Deferred tax assets, current 18,361 18,361
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 16,350 16,892
Total current assets 132,724 155,140
Property and equipment, net 43,771 52,243
Goodwill 83,627 83,627
Software, net 21,749 20,557
Deferred customer acquisition costs, non-current 112 193
Debt related costs, net 2,403 1,313
Restricted cash 3,407 4,405
Intangible assets, net 64,057 76,850
Deferred tax assets, non-current 232,849 246,539
Other assets 7,938 1,882
Total assets $592,637 $642,749
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $43,164 $49,867
Accrued expenses 74,255 81,127
Deferred revenue, current portion 35,392 36,899
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 3,240 2,889
Current portion of notes payables 20,000 23,333
Total current liabilities 176,051 194,115
Indebtedness under revolving credit facility — 75,000
Notes payable, net of current portion 75,000 23,333
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 837 436
Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities 7,732 10,201
Other liabilities, net of current portion in accrued expenses 1,676 1,628
Total liabilities 261,296 304,713
Commitments and Contingencies — —
Redeemable noncontrolling interest — (38 )
Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share; 596,950 shares authorized at
September 30, 2014

253 247
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and December 31, 2013; 251,612 and 246,741 shares issued at September 30, 2014
and
December 31, 2013, respectively; 206,797 and 212,339 shares outstanding at
September 30,
2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively
Additional paid-in capital 1,157,473 1,136,289
Accumulated deficit (683,279 ) (697,941 )
Treasury stock, at cost, 44,815 shares at September 30, 2014 and 34,402 shares at
December 31, 2013 (140,140 ) (101,040 )

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (2,226 ) 519
Noncontrolling interest (740 ) —
Total stockholders’ equity 331,341 338,074
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest, and stockholders’ equity $592,637 $642,749

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Revenues $214,737 $203,984 $654,352 $617,847

Operating Expenses:
Direct cost of telephony services (excluding depreciation and
amortization of $4,704, $3,522, $14,956, and $10,484,
respectively)

49,830 52,882 154,832 161,590

Direct cost of goods sold 9,205 9,535 28,394 27,630
Selling, general and administrative 73,414 64,752 225,436 189,143
Marketing 58,305 59,133 174,572 169,132
Depreciation and amortization 12,346 8,459 37,143 24,639

203,100 194,761 620,377 572,134
Income from operations 11,637 9,223 33,975 45,713
Other Income (Expense):
Interest income 37 97 159 208
Interest expense (1,680 ) (1,509 ) (5,191 ) (4,698 )
Other income (expense), net (2 ) (15 ) 21 (71 )

(1,645 ) (1,427 ) (5,011 ) (4,561 )
Income before income tax expense 9,992 7,796 28,964 41,152
Income tax expense (5,627 ) (3,811 ) (15,011 ) (16,673 )
Net income $4,365 $3,985 $13,953 $24,479
Plus: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 191 222 709 222
Net income attributable to Vonage $4,556 $4,207 $14,662 $24,701
Net income attributable to Vonage per common share:
Basic $0.02 $0.02 $0.07 $0.12
Diluted $0.02 $0.02 $0.07 $0.11
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 208,580 209,589 210,714 212,124
Diluted 217,176 217,059 220,923 222,321

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Net income $4,365 $3,985 $13,953 $24,479
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,643 ) 885 (2,732 ) (802 )
       Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities (6 ) — (6 ) —
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (1,649 ) 885 (2,738 ) (802 )
Comprehensive income 2,716 4,870 11,215 23,677
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest:
Add: Net loss (191 ) (222 ) (709 ) (222 )
Foreign currency translation adjustment 38 — 7 —
Total comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (153 ) (222 ) (702 ) (222 )
Comprehensive income attributable to Vonage $2,869 $5,092 $11,917 $23,899

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited) 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $13,953 $24,479
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization and impairment charges 24,350 22,859
Amortization of intangibles 12,793 1,780
Deferred tax expense 13,454 15,751
Allowance for doubtful accounts (183 ) (135 )
Allowance for obsolete inventory 306 520
Amortization of debt related costs 820 1,190
Share-based expense 16,899 13,085
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (2,237 ) (1,401 )
Inventory 2,559 (6,575 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 256 (3,877 )
Deferred customer acquisition costs 742 (437 )
Other assets (6,056 ) 1,856
Accounts payable (6,658 ) (34,516 )
Accrued expenses (8,793 ) 18,467
Deferred revenue (1,020 ) (939 )
Other liabilities 48 47
Net cash provided by operating activities 61,233 52,154
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (7,236 ) (7,008 )
Purchase of marketable securities (4,628 ) —
Acquisition and development of software assets (9,969 ) (8,750 )
Decrease in restricted cash 996 1,254
Net cash used in investing activities (20,837 ) (14,504 )
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on capital lease obligations (2,118 ) (1,810 )
Principal payments on notes and revolving credit facility (36,666 ) (17,500 )
Proceeds received from issuance of notes payable 10,000 27,500
Debt related costs (1,910 ) (2,056 )
Common stock repurchases (36,747 ) (44,370 )
Acquisition of redeemable noncontrolling interest — 455
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, net of stock cancellation payment 4,262 3,568
Net cash used in financing activities (63,179 ) (34,213 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (2,512 ) (632 )
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (25,295 ) 2,805
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 84,663 97,110
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $59,368 $99,915
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
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Cash paid during the periods for:
Interest $3,987 $3,156
Income taxes $1,871 $1,902
Non-cash financing transactions during the periods for:
Common stock repurchases $635 $1,099

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

6

Edgar Filing: VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP - Form 10-Q

9



Table of Contents

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Non-controlling
interest Total

Redeemable
non-controlling
interest

Net
Income

Balance at
December 31,
2013

$247 $1,136,289 $ (697,941 ) $(101,040) $ 519 $ — $338,074 $ (38 )

Stock option
exercises 6 4,256 4,262

Share-based
expense 16,899 16,899

Share-based
award activity (2,220 ) (2,220 )

Common stock
repurchases (36,646 ) (36,646 )

Other 29 (234 ) (205 )
Foreign currency
translation
adjustment

(2,739 ) 7 (2,732 )

Unrealized loss
on
available-for-sale
securities

(6 ) (6 )

Transfer of
noncontrolling
interest

(706 ) (706 ) 706

Net income (loss) 14,662 (41 ) 14,621 (668 ) $13,953
Balance at
September 30,
2014

$253 $1,157,473 $ (683,279 ) $(140,140) $ (2,226 ) $ (740 ) $331,341 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Note 1.    Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations
Vonage Holdings Corp. (“Vonage”, “Company”, “we”, “our”, “us”) is incorporated as a Delaware corporation. We are a leading
provider of communications services connecting consumers and businesses through cloud-connected devices
worldwide. Customers in the United States represented 93% of our subscriber lines for our broadband telephone
replacement services at September 30, 2014, with the balance primarily in Canada and the United Kingdom.
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and information have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and in accordance with the instructions
for Form 10-Q. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and disclosures required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management,
these financial statements contain all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary to present fairly the
financial position, results of operations, cash flows, and statement of stockholders’ equity for the periods presented.
The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be
expected for the full year.
These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements and related notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2013 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 13, 2014.
Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Vonage and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. We also consolidate a majority-owned
entity in Brazil where we have the ability to exercise controlling influence. The ownership interest of the
noncontrolling party is presented as noncontrolling interest.
Use of Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States, which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially
from these estimates.
On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including the following:
•the useful lives of property and equipment, software costs, and intangible assets;

•

assumptions used for the purpose of determining share-based compensation using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model and Monte Carlo simulation model (“Models”), and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable;
the key inputs for these Models include our stock price at valuation date, exercise price, the dividend yield, risk-free
interest rate, life in years, and historical volatility of our common stock; and
•assumptions used in determining the need for, and amount of, a valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets.
We base our estimates on historical experience, available market information, appropriate valuation methodologies,
and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities.

Revenue Recognition
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Operating revenues consist of telephony services revenues and customer equipment (which enables our telephony
services) and shipping revenues. The point in time at which revenues are recognized is determined in accordance with
Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, and Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605, Revenue Recognition.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

At the time a customer signs up for our telephony services, there are the following deliverables:

• Providing equipment, if any, to the customer that enables our telephony services;
and

•Providing telephony services.
The equipment is generally provided free of charge to our customers and in most instances there are no fees collected
at sign-up. We record the fees collected for shipping the equipment to the customer, if any, as shipping and handling
revenue at the time of shipment.

Telephony Services Revenue
Substantially all of our revenues are telephony services revenues, which are derived primarily from monthly
subscription fees that customers are charged under our service plans. We also derive telephony services revenues from
per minute fees for international calls if not covered under a plan, including calls made via applications for mobile
devices and other stand-alone products, and for any calling minutes in excess of a customer’s monthly plan limits.
Monthly subscription fees are automatically charged to customers’ credit cards, debit cards or electronic check
payments ("ECP"), in advance and are recognized over the following month when services are provided. Revenues
generated from international calls and from customers exceeding allocated call minutes under limited minute plans are
recognized as services are provided, that is, as minutes are used, and are billed to a customer's credit cards, debit cards
or ECP in arrears. As a result of multiple billing cycles each month, we estimate the amount of revenues earned from
international calls and from customers exceeding allocated call minutes under limited minute plans but not billed from
the end of each billing cycle to the end of each reporting period and record these amounts as accounts receivable.
These estimates are based primarily upon historical minutes and have been consistent with our actual results.
We also provide rebates to customers who purchase their customer equipment from retailers and satisfy minimum
service period requirements. These rebates in excess of activation fees are recorded as a reduction of revenues over the
service period based upon the estimated number of customers that will ultimately earn and claim the rebates.
In the United States, we charge regulatory, compliance, E-911, and intellectual property-related fees on a monthly
basis to defray costs, and to cover taxes that we are charged by the suppliers of telecommunications services. In
addition, we charge customers Federal Universal Service Fund (“USF”) fees. We recognize revenue on a gross basis for
USF and related fees. We record these fees as revenue when billed. All other taxes are recorded on a net basis.

Customer Equipment and Shipping Revenue
Customer equipment and shipping revenues consist of revenues from sales of customer equipment to wholesalers or
directly to customers for replacement devices, or for upgrading their device at the time of customer sign-up for which
we charge an additional fee. In addition, customer equipment and shipping revenues include revenues from the sale of
VoIP telephones in order to access our small and medium business services on a net basis rather than a gross basis.
Customer equipment and shipping revenues also include the fees that customers are charged for shipping their
customer equipment to them. Customer equipment and shipping revenues include sales to our retailers, who
subsequently resell this customer equipment to customers. Revenues are reduced for payments to retailers and rebates
to customers, who purchased their customer equipment through these retailers, to the extent of customer equipment
and shipping revenues.
Direct Cost of Telephony Services
Direct cost of telephony services consists primarily of direct costs that we pay to third parties in order to provide
telephony services. These costs include access and interconnection charges that we pay to other telephone companies
to terminate domestic and international phone calls on the public switched telephone network. In addition, these costs
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include the cost to lease phone numbers, to co-locate in other telephone companies’ facilities, to provide enhanced
emergency dialing capabilities to transmit 911 calls, and to provide local number portability. These costs also include
taxes that we pay on telecommunications services from our suppliers or are imposed by government agencies such as
Federal USF and royalties for use of third parties’ intellectual property. These costs do not include indirect costs such
as depreciation and amortization, payroll, and facilities costs. Our presentation of direct cost of telephony services
may not be comparable to other similar companies.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Direct Cost of Goods Sold
Direct cost of goods sold consists primarily of costs that we incur when a customer signs up for our service. These
costs include the cost of customer equipment for customers who subscribe through the direct sales channel in excess
of activation fees. In addition, these costs include the amortization of deferred customer equipment, the cost of
shipping and handling for customer equipment, the installation manual that accompanies the customer equipment, and
the cost of certain promotions.
Development Expenses
Costs for research, including predevelopment efforts prior to establishing technological feasibility of software
expected to be marketed, are expensed as incurred. Development costs are capitalized when technological feasibility
has been established and anticipated future revenues support the recoverability of the capitalized amounts.
Capitalization stops when the product is available for general release to customers. Due to the short time period
between achieving technological feasibility and product release and the insignificant amount of costs incurred during
such periods, we have not capitalized any software development, and have expensed these costs as incurred. These
costs are included in selling, general and administrative expense.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities
We maintain cash with several investment grade financial institutions. Highly liquid investments, which are readily
convertible into cash, with original maturities of three months or less, are recorded as cash equivalents.
Management determines the appropriate classification of our investments in debt and marketable equity securities at
the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at each balance sheet date. Our debt and marketable equity
securities have been classified and accounted for as available for sale. We may or may not hold securities with stated
maturities until maturity. In response to changes in the availability of and the yield on alternative investments as well
as liquidity requirements, we may sell these securities prior to their stated maturities. These securities are carried at
fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). Any
realized gains or losses on the sale of marketable securities are determined on a specific identification method, and
such gains and losses are reflected as a component of other income or expense.
Certain Risks and Concentrations
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents,
marketable securities, and accounts receivable. They are subject to fluctuations in both market value and yield based
upon changes in market conditions, including interest rates, liquidity, general economic conditions, and conditions
specific to the issuers. Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from revenues earned from
customers primarily located in the United States. A portion of our accounts receivable represents the timing difference
between when a customer’s credit card is billed and the subsequent settlement of that transaction with our credit card
processors. This timing difference is generally three days for substantially all of our credit card receivables. We have
never experienced any accounts receivable write-offs due to this timing difference. In addition, we collect subscription
fees in advance, minimizing our accounts receivable and bad debt exposure. If a customer’s credit card, debit card or
ECP is declined, we generally suspend international calling capabilities as well as their ability to incur domestic usage
charges in excess of their plan minutes. If the customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP could not be successfully
processed during three billing cycles (i.e., the current and two subsequent monthly billing cycles), we terminate the
account. In addition, we automatically charge any per minute fees to our customers’ credit card, debit card or ECP
monthly in arrears. To further mitigate our bad debt exposure, a customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP will be
charged in advance of their monthly billing if their international calling or overage charges exceed a certain dollar
threshold.
Inventory
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Inventory consists of the cost of customer equipment and is stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined
using the average cost method. We provide an inventory allowance for customer equipment that has been returned by
customers but may not be able to be reissued to new customers or returned to the manufacturer for credit.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment includes acquired assets and those accounted for under capital leases and consist principally
of network equipment and computer hardware, furniture, software, and leasehold improvements. In addition, the lease
of our corporate headquarters has been accounted for as a capital lease and is included in property and equipment.
Network equipment and computer hardware and furniture are stated at cost with depreciation provided using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

of the related assets, which range from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over their estimated
useful life of the related assets or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter. The cost of renewals and substantial
improvements is capitalized while the cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operating expenses as incurred.
Our network equipment and computer hardware, which consists of routers, gateways, and servers that enable our
telephony services, is subject to technological risks and rapid market changes due to new products and services and
changing customer demand. These changes may result in future adjustments to the estimated useful lives or the
carrying value of these assets, or both.
Software Costs
We capitalize certain costs, such as purchased software and internally developed software that we use for customer
acquisition and customer care automation tools, in accordance with FASB ASC 350-40, “Internal-Use Software”.
Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and the estimated useful life is two to five years.
Goodwill and Purchased-Intangible Assets
Goodwill acquired in acquisition of a business is accounted for based upon the excess fair value of consideration
transferred over the fair value of net assets acquired in the business combination. Goodwill is tested for impairment on
an annual basis on October 1st and, when specific circumstances dictate, between annual tests. When impaired, the
carrying value of goodwill is written down to fair value. The goodwill impairment test involves a two-step process.
The first step, identifying a potential impairment, compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount,
including goodwill. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step would need to be
conducted; otherwise, no further steps are necessary as no potential impairment exists. The second step, measuring the
impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that
goodwill. Any excess of the reporting unit goodwill carrying value over the respective implied fair value is recognized
as an impairment loss.
Purchased-intangible assets are accounted for based upon the fair value of assets received. Purchased-intangible assets
are amortized on a straight-line or accelerated basis over the periods of benefit, ranging from two to ten years. We
perform a review of purchased-intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the useful
life is shorter than we had originally estimated or that the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable. If such
facts and circumstances exist, we assess the recoverability of purchased-intangible assets by comparing the projected
undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their remaining lives against their
respective carrying amounts. Impairments, if any, are based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of
those assets. If the useful life of the asset is shorter than originally estimated, we accelerate the rate of amortization
and amortize the remaining carrying value over the new shorter useful life. There was no impairment of
purchased-intangible assets identified for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired in the settlement of litigation or by direct purchase are accounted for based upon the fair
value of assets received.
Patents and Patent Licenses
Patent rights acquired in the settlement of litigation or by direct purchase are accounted for based upon the fair value
of assets received.
Long-Lived Assets
We evaluate impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when events and changes in circumstances
indicate that the assets might be impaired. If our review indicates that the carrying value of an asset will not be
recoverable, based on a comparison of the carrying value of the asset to the undiscounted future cash flows, the
impairment will be measured by comparing the carrying value of the asset to its fair value. Fair value will be
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determined based on quoted market values, discounted cash flows or appraisals. Impairments are recorded in the
statement of operations as part of depreciation expense.
Debt Related Costs
Costs incurred in raising debt are deferred and amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over
the life of the debt.
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Noncontrolling Interest and Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest
We consolidate a majority-owned entity where we have the ability to exercise controlling influence. The ownership
interest of the noncontrolling party is presented as noncontrolling interest in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as
Stockholders' Equity. If we are required to repurchase the noncontrolling interest at fair value, subject to adjustment,
under a put option or other contractual redemption requirement, we will report the noncontrolling interest as
redeemable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets between liabilities and equity. We adjust the redeemable
noncontrolling interest to the redemption values on each balance sheet date with changes recognized as an adjustment
to retained earnings, or in the absence of retained earnings, as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital when it
becomes probable the noncontrolling interest will become redeemable.
Derivatives
We do not hold or issue derivative instruments for trading purposes. However, in accordance with FASB ASC 815,
“Derivatives and Hedging” (“FASB ASC 815”), we review our contractual obligations to determine whether there are
terms that possess the characteristics of derivative financial instruments that must be accounted for separately from the
financial instrument in which they are embedded. We recognize these features as liabilities in our consolidated
balance sheet at fair value each period and recognize any change in the fair value in our statement of operations in the
period of change. We estimate the fair value of these liabilities using available market information and appropriate
valuation methodologies.
Income Taxes
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities at enacted income tax rates for the temporary differences between the
financial reporting bases and the tax bases of our assets and liabilities. Any effects of changes in income tax rates or
tax laws are included in the provision for income taxes in the period of enactment. Our net deferred tax assets
primarily consist of net operating loss carry forwards (“NOLs”). We are required to record a valuation allowance against
our net deferred tax assets if we conclude that it is more likely than not that taxable income generated in the future
will be insufficient to utilize the future income tax benefit from our net deferred tax assets (namely, the NOLs) prior to
expiration. We periodically review this conclusion, which requires significant management judgment. If we are able to
conclude in a future period that a future income tax benefit from our net deferred tax assets has a greater than 50
percent likelihood of being realized, we are required in that period to reduce the related valuation allowance with a
corresponding decrease in income tax expense. This would result in a non-cash benefit to our net income in the period
of the determination. In the fourth quarter of 2011, we released $325,601 of valuation allowance. In subsequent
periods, we would expect to recognize income tax expense equal to our pre-tax income multiplied by our effective
income tax rate, an expense that was not recognized prior to the reduction of the valuation allowance. Our effective
rate may differ from the federal statutory rate due, in part, to our foreign operations and certain discrete period
items. The 2014 estimated annual effective tax rate is expected to approximate 51%, but may fluctuate due to the
timing of other discrete period transactions.
We file income tax returns in the U.S. on a federal basis and in U.S. state and foreign jurisdictions. Our federal tax
return remains subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service from 2010 to present, our New Jersey tax
returns remain open from 2008 to present, our Canada tax return remains open from 2009 to present, and other
domestic and foreign tax returns remain open for all periods to which those filings relate. We recognize the tax benefit
from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination
by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial
statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood
of being realized upon ultimate resolution.
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We have not had any unrecognized tax benefits. We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized
tax benefits as components of our income tax provision. We have not had any interest and penalties accrued related to
unrecognized tax benefits.
Business Combinations
We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The acquisition method of
accounting requires that the purchase price, including the fair value of contingent consideration, of the acquisition be
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed using the fair values determined by management as of the
acquisition date. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net
of the acquisition date fair values of assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. While the Company uses its best
estimates and assumptions as part of the purchase price allocation process to accurately value assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, the Company’s estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement.
As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the
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acquisition date, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the
corresponding offset to goodwill to the extent the Company identifies adjustments to the preliminary purchase price
allocation. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or
liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the consolidated statements of
operations. We will include the results of all acquisitions in our Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of
acquisition.
In connection with the acquisition of Vocalocity, Inc. on November 15, 2013, we recorded preliminary estimates
primarily related to income, sales, excise, and ad valorem taxes. As such, the provisional measurements of fair value
are subject to change.
Acquisition related transaction costs, such as banking, legal, accounting and other costs incurred in connection with an
acquisition, are expensed as incurred in selling, general and administrative expense.
Acquisition related integration costs include costs associated with exit or disposal activities, which do not meet the
criteria of discontinued operations, including costs for employee, lease, and contract terminations, facility closing or
other exit activities. Additionally, these costs include expenses directly related to integrating and reorganizing
acquired businesses and include items such as employee retention costs, recruiting costs, certain moving costs, certain
duplicative costs during integration and asset impairments. These costs are expensed as incurred in selling, general
and administrative expense.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted FASB ASC 820-10-25, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”. This
standard establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. We
did not elect fair value accounting for any assets and liabilities allowed by FASB ASC 825, “Financial Instruments”.
FASB ASC 820-10 defines fair value as the amount that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability
(i.e., an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the measurement date. FASB ASC 820-10 also establishes a fair value hierarchy that
requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. FASB ASC 820-10 describes the following three levels of inputs that may be used:

•Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assetsand liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.
•Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market data.

•Level 3: Unobservable inputs when there is little or no market data available, thereby requiring an entity to develop itsown assumptions. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.
The following table presents the assets that are measured and recognized at fair value on a recurring basis classified
under the appropriate level of the fair value hierarchy as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Level 1 Assets
Money market fund (1) $5,333 $—
Level 2 Assets
Available-for-sale securities (2) $4,622 $—

(1) Included in cash and cash equivalents on our consolidated balance sheet.
(2) Included in marketable securities on our consolidated balance sheet.
Foreign Currency
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Generally, the functional currency of our non-United States subsidiaries is the local currency. The financial statements
of these subsidiaries are translated to United States dollars using month-end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities,
and average rates of exchange for revenues, costs, and expenses. Translation gains and losses are deferred and
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a component of stockholders’ equity.

13

Edgar Filing: VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP - Form 10-Q

22



Table of Contents

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Share-Based Compensation
We account for share-based compensation in accordance with FASB ASC 718, “Compensation-Stock Compensation”.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of this pronouncement, share-based compensation cost is measured at the
grant date based on the fair value of the award, reduced as appropriate based on estimated forfeitures, and is
recognized as expense over the applicable vesting period of the stock award using the accelerated method. The excess
tax benefit associated with stock compensation deductions have not been recorded in additional paid-in capital. When
evaluating whether an excess tax benefit has been realized, share based compensation deductions are not considered
realized until NOLs are no longer sufficient to offset taxable income. Such excess tax benefits will be recorded when
realized.
Earnings per Share
Net income per share has been computed according to FASB ASC 260, “Earnings per Share”, which requires a dual
presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”). Basic EPS represents net income divided by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during a reporting period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution
that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock, including stock options and restricted stock
units under our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and 2006 Incentive Plan, were exercised or converted into common stock.
The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and restricted stock units is reflected in diluted earnings per share by
application of the treasury stock method. In applying the treasury stock method for stock-based compensation
arrangements, the assumed proceeds are computed as the sum of the amount the employee must pay upon exercise and
the amounts of average unrecognized compensation cost attributed to future services.
The following table sets forth the computation for basic and diluted net income per share for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Numerator
Numerator for basic earnings per share-net income attributable to
Vonage $4,556 $4,207 $14,662 $24,701

Numerator for diluted earnings per share-net income attributable
to Vonage $4,556 $4,207 $14,662 $24,701

Denominator
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 208,580 209,589 210,714 212,124
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units 8,596 7,470 10,209 10,197
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 217,176 217,059 220,923 222,321
Basic net income per share
Basic net income per share $0.02 $0.02 $0.07 $0.12
Diluted net income per share
Diluted net income per share $0.02 $0.02 $0.07 $0.11

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the following were excluded from the calculation
of diluted earnings per common share because of their anti-dilutive effects: 

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
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2014 2013 2014 2013
Restricted stock units 5,318 2,063 5,014 2,029
Stock options 22,932 26,964 21,623 24,270

28,250 29,027 26,637 26,299
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income and other comprehensive items. Other comprehensive items
include foreign currency translation adjustments.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09,
"Revenue from Contracts with Customers". This ASU is a comprehensive new revenue recognition model that
requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of good or services to a customer at an amount that
reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. This ASU is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and early adoption is not permitted. Accordingly, we will
adopt this ASU on January 1, 2017. Companies may use either a full retrospective or modified retrospective approach
to adopt this ASU and our management is currently evaluating which transition approach to use. We are currently
evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2014-09 on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ financial statements in order to conform to the current year’s
presentation. The reclassifications had no impact on net earnings previously reported.
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Note 2.    Supplemental Balance Sheet Account Information
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Nontrade receivables $1,930 $7,402
Services 9,710 7,084
Telecommunications 492 479
Insurance 1,177 757
Marketing 1,567 312
Other prepaids 1,474 858
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $16,350 $16,892

Property and equipment, net

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Building (under capital lease) $25,709 $25,709
Network equipment and computer hardware 76,083 78,312
Leasehold improvements 47,044 44,141
Furniture 1,771 812
Vehicles 92 109

150,699 149,083
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (106,928 ) (96,840 )
Property and equipment, net $43,771 $52,243

Software, net

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Purchased $53,779 $45,178
Licensed 909 909
Internally developed 36,088 36,088

90,776 82,175
Less: accumulated amortization (69,027 ) (61,618 )
Software, net $21,749 $20,557

Debt related costs, net

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Senior secured term loan and revolver $6,617 $4,706
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Less: accumulated amortization (4,214 ) (3,393 )
Debt related costs, net $2,403 $1,313
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Restricted cash

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Letter of credit-lease deposits $3,310 $4,306
Cash reserves 97 99
Restricted cash $3,407 $4,405

Intangible assets, net

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Customer relationships $39,100 $39,100
Developed technology 35,200 35,200
Patents and patent licenses 12,764 18,264
Trademark 560 560
Trade names 500 500
Non-compete agreements 200 200

88,324 93,824
Less: accumulated amortization (24,267 ) (16,974 )
Intangible assets, net $64,057 $76,850

Other assets

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Long term non-trade receivable 6,623 —
Others 1,315 1,882
Other assets $7,938 $1,882

Accrued expenses

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

Compensation and related taxes and temporary labor $19,508 $20,276
Marketing 20,648 23,277
Taxes and fees 15,770 18,207
Litigation and settlements 89 89
Telecommunications 7,961 7,942
Other accruals 4,108 6,063
Customer credits 1,849 1,719
Professional fees 3,842 2,490
Accrued interest 11 12
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Inventory 172 769
Credit card fees 297 283
Accrued expenses $74,255 $81,127
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Note 3.    Supplemental Income Statement Account Information
Amounts included in revenues

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

USF fees $16,785 $17,148 $53,817 $52,378
Disconnect fees $776 $1,002 $2,455 $3,308
Initial activation fees $252 $291 $839 $964
Customer equipment fees $75 $101 $660 $271
Equipment recovery fees $19 $24 $58 $79
Shipping and handling fees $765 $248 $1,689 $938

Amount included in direct cost of telephony services

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

USF costs $16,785 $17,148 $53,874 $52,378

Amount included in direct cost of goods sold

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Shipping and handling cost $1,482 $1,164 $4,619 $4,008

Amount included in selling, general and administrative expense

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Advertising costs $(18 ) $299 $307 $487
Acquisition related costs $— $680 $20 $680
Acquisition integration cost $2 $— $100 $—
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Amount included in marketing

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Advertising costs $36,826 $38,997 $108,522 $106,963

Depreciation and amortization expense

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Network equipment and computer hardware $3,363 $3,382 $10,574 $10,029
Software 3,056 2,826 8,604 7,975
Capital leases 550 549 1,650 1,647
Other leasehold improvements 1,083 1,064 3,237 3,100
Furniture 36 32 105 88
Vehicles 8 1 15 9
Patents 368 576 1,449 1,728
Trademarks 18 18 54 54
Customer relationship 2,136 — 6,404 —
Developed technology 1,574 — 4,722 —
Trade names 50 — 150 —
Non-compete agreements 4 — 12 —

12,246 8,448 36,976 24,630
Property and equipment impairments 99 11 101 9
Software impairments 1 — 66 —
Depreciation and amortization expense $12,346 $8,459 $37,143 $24,639

Amount included in interest expense

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Debt related costs amortization $276 $407 $820 $1,190

Amount included in other income (expense), net

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Net income (loss) resulting from foreign exchange transactions $(1 ) $(15 ) $21 $(77 )
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Note 4.    Long-Term Debt and Revolving Credit Facility
A schedule of long-term debt at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 is as follows:

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2013

2.875-3.375% Credit Facility - due 2018 $75,000 $—
3.125-3.625% Credit Facility - due 2016 $— $23,333
3.125-3.625% Revolving Credit Facility - due 2016 — 75,000

At September 30, 2014, future payments under long-term debt obligations over each of the next five years and
thereafter were as follows:

Credit Facility
2014 $5,000
2015 20,000
2016 20,000
2017 20,000
2018 30,000
Minimum future payments of principal 95,000
Less: current portion 20,000
Long-term portion $75,000

2014 Financing
On August 13, 2014, we entered into a credit agreement (the “2014 Credit Facility”) consisting of a $100,000 senior
secured term loan and a $125,000 revolving credit facility. The co-borrowers under the 2014 Credit Facility are us and
Vonage America Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary. Obligations under the 2014 Credit Facility are guaranteed, fully
and unconditionally, by our other material United States subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all of the assets
of each borrower and each guarantor. The lenders under the 2014 Credit Facility are JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
Citizens Bank, N.A., Silicon Valley Bank, SunTrust Bank, Fifth Third Bank, Keybank National Association, and
MUFG Union Bank, N.A. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is a party to the agreement as administrative agent, Citizens
Bank, N.A. as syndication agent, and Silicon Valley Bank and SunTrust Bank as documentation agents. J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC and Citizens Bank, N.A. acted as joint lead bookrunners, and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Citizens
Bank, N.A., Silicon Valley Bank, and SunTrust Robinson Humphrey Inc. acted as joint lead arrangers.
Use of Proceeds
We used $90,000 of the net available proceeds of the 2014 Credit Facility to retire all of the debt under our 2013
Credit Facility. Remaining proceeds from the senior secured term loan and the undrawn revolving credit facility under
the 2014 Credit Facility will be used for general corporate purposes. We also incurred $1,910 of fees in connection
with the 2014 Credit Facility, which is amortized, along with the unamortized fees of $668 in connection with the
2013 Credit Facility, to interest expense over the life of the debt using the effective interest method.

2014 Credit Facility Terms
The following description summarizes the material terms of the 2014 Credit Facility:
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The loans under the 2014 Credit Facility mature in August 2018. Principal amounts under the 2014 Credit Facility are
repayable in quarterly installments of $5,000 per quarter for the senior secured term loan. The unused portion of our
revolving credit facility incurs a 0.40% commitment fee.
Outstanding amounts under the 2014 Credit Facility, at our option, will bear interest at:

20

Edgar Filing: VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP - Form 10-Q

34



Table of Contents

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

•

LIBOR (applicable to one-, two-, three-, six-, or twelve-month periods) plus an applicable margin equal to 2.875% if
our consolidated leverage ratio is less than 0.75 to 1.00, 3.125% if our consolidated leverage ratio is greater than or
equal to 0.75 to 1.00 and less than 1.50 to 1.00, and 3.375% if our consolidated leverage ratio is greater than or equal
to 1.50 to 1.00, payable on the last day of each relevant interest period or, if the interest period is longer than three
months, each day that is three months after the first day of the interest period, or

•

the base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the federal funds effective rate from time to time plus
0.50%, (b) the prime rate of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and (c) the adjusted LIBO rate applicable to one month
interest periods plus 1.00%, plus an applicable margin equal to 1.875% if our consolidated leverage ratio is less than
0.75 to 1.00, 2.125% if our consolidated leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 0.75 to 1.00 and less than 1.50 to
1.00, and 2.375% if our consolidated leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 1.50 to 1.00, payable on the last
business day of each March, June, September, and December and the maturity date of the 2014 Credit Facility.
The 2014 Credit Facility provides greater flexibility to us in funding acquisitions and restricted payments, such as
stock buybacks, than the 2013 Credit Facility.
We may prepay the 2014 Credit Facility at our option at any time without premium or penalty. The 2014 Credit
Facility is subject to mandatory prepayments in amounts equal to:

•
100% of the net cash proceeds from any non-ordinary course sale or other disposition of our property and assets for
consideration in excess of a certain amount subject to customary reinvestment provisions and certain other exceptions,
and

• 100% of the net cash proceeds received in connection with other non-ordinary course transactions, including
insurance proceeds not otherwise applied to the relevant insurance loss.

Subject to certain restrictions and exceptions, the 2014 Credit Facility permits us to obtain one or more incremental
term loans and/or revolving credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of up to $60,000 plus an amount equal to
repayments of the senior secured term loan upon providing documentation reasonably satisfactory to the
administrative agent. The 2014 Credit Facility includes customary representations and warranties and affirmative
covenants of the borrowers. In addition, the 2014 Credit Facility contains customary negative covenants, including,
among other things, restrictions on the ability of us and our subsidiaries to consolidate or merge, create liens, incur
additional indebtedness, dispose of assets, consummate acquisitions, make investments, and pay dividends and other
distributions. We must also comply with the following financial covenants:
•a consolidated leverage ratio of no greater than 2.25 to 1.00;

•a consolidated fixed coverage charge ratio of no less than 1.75 to 1.00 subject to adjustment to exclude up to $80,000in specified restricted payments;
•minimum cash of $25,000 including the unused portion of the revolving credit facility; and

•maximum capital expenditures not to exceed $55,000 during any fiscal year, provided that the unused amount of anypermitted capital expenditures in any fiscal year may be carried forward to the next following fiscal year.
In addition, annual excess cash flow up to $8,000 increases permitted capital expenditures.
As of September 30, 2014, we were in compliance with all covenants, including financial covenants, for the 2014
Credit Facility.
The 2014 Credit Facility contains customary events of default that may permit acceleration of the debt. During the
continuance of a payment default, interest will accrue at a default interest rate of 2% above the interest rate which
would otherwise be applicable, in the case of loans, and at a rate equal to the rate applicable to base rate loans plus
2%, in the case of all other amounts.
2013 Financing
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On February 11, 2013 we entered into Amendment No. 1 to the 2011 Credit Agreement (as further amended by
Amendment No. 2 to our 2011 Credit Facility, the "2013 Credit Facility"). The 2013 Credit Facility consisted of a
$70,000 senior secured term loan and a $75,000 revolving credit facility. The co-borrowers under the 2013 Credit
Facility were our wholly owned subsidiary, Vonage America Inc., and us. Obligations under the 2013 Credit Facility
were guaranteed, fully and unconditionally, by our other United States subsidiaries and were secured by substantially
all of the assets of each borrower and each of the guarantors. On July 26, 2013 we entered into Amendment No. 2 to
our 2011 Credit Agreement, which amended our financial covenant related to our
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consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio by increasing the amount of restricted payments excluded from such
calculation from $50,000 to $80,000.
Use of Proceeds
The net proceeds received of $27,500 from the senior secured term loan and the undrawn revolving credit facility
under the 2013 Credit Facility were used for general corporate purposes. We also incurred $2,009 of fees in
connection with the 2013 Credit Facility, which is amortized, along with the unamortized fees of $670 in connection
with the 2011 Credit Facility, to interest expense over the life of the debt using the effective interest method. We used
$75,000 from the 2013 revolving credit facility in connection with the acquisition of Vocalocity on November 15,
2013.
Note 5.    Common Stock
1,646 

$

46 

$

36,349 

$

967 

(1) The number of investment positions with unrealized losses totaled 260 for securities available for sale and 135 for
securities held to maturity.
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Less than 12 months
12 months or longer Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

December 31, 2012 Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Securities available for sale:
Asset-backed securities $  - $  - $ 801 $ 2 $ 801 $ 2 
Corporate debt securities 878 2  -  - 878 2 
Certificates of deposit 599 1  -  - 599 1 
U.S. agency notes 2,102 3  -  - 2,102 3 
Non-agency residential mortgage-backed
securities 46 1 549 64 595 65 
Total $ 3,625 $ 7 $ 1,350 $ 66 $ 4,975 $ 73 
Securities held to maturity:
U.S. agency mortgage-backed
securities $ 2,680 $ 19 $  - $  - $ 2,680 $ 19 
Other securities 240 1  -  - 240 1 
Total $ 2,920 $ 20 $  - $  - $ 2,920 $ 20 
Total securities with unrealized losses (1) $ 6,545 $ 27 $ 1,350 $ 66 $ 7,895 $ 93 

(1) The number of investment positions with unrealized losses totaled 139 for securities available for sale and 24 for
securities held to maturity.

The Company’s non-agency residential mortgage-backed securities portfolio includes securities collateralized by loans
that are considered to be “Prime” (defined as loans to borrowers with a Fair Isaac Corporation (FICO) credit score of
620 or higher at origination), and “Alt-A” (defined as Prime loans with reduced documentation at origination). The
Company does not intend to sell these securities and it is not “more likely than not” that the Company will be required to
sell these securities. Management determined that it does not expect to recover all of the amortized cost of certain of
its Alt-A and Prime residential mortgage-backed securities and therefore determined that these securities were
other-than-temporarily impaired (OTTI).  The Company recognized an impairment charge equal to the securities’
expected credit losses of $1 million and $8 million during the third quarter and first nine months of 2013, respectively,
based on the Company’s cash flow projections for these securities. The expected credit losses were measured as the
difference between the present value of expected cash flows and the amortized cost of the securities. Further
deterioration in the performance of the underlying loans in the Company’s non-agency residential mortgage-backed
securities portfolio could result in the recognition of additional impairment losses.
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The following table is a rollforward of the amount of credit losses recognized in earnings for OTTI securities held by
the Company during the period for which a portion of the impairment was recognized in or reclassified from other
comprehensive income (loss):

Three Months Ended
Nine Months
Ended

September 30, September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012

Balance at beginning of period $ 166 $ 152 $ 159 $ 127 
Credit losses recognized into current period earnings on debt securities for
which an other-than-temporary impairment was not previously recognized  - 1 1 6 
Credit losses recognized into current period earnings on debt securities for
which an other-than-temporary impairment was previously recognized 1 2 7 22 
Balance at end of period $ 167 $ 155 $ 167 $ 155 

7 

Edgar Filing: VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP - Form 10-Q

39



THE CHARLES SCHWAB CORPORATION

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tabular Amounts in Millions, Except Per Share Data, Ratios, or as Noted)
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The maturities of securities available for sale and securities held to maturity at September 30, 2013 are as follows:

After 1
year After 5 years

Within through through After
1 year 5 years 10 years 10 years Total

Securities available for sale:
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities (1) $  - $ 325 $ 4,271 $ 14,052 $ 18,648 
Asset-backed securities  - 1,255 2,598 10,661 14,514 
Corporate debt securities 1,902 7,364 106  - 9,372 
Certificates of deposit 2,378 1,902  -  - 4,280 
U.S. agency notes  - 2,291 1,861  - 4,152 
Non-agency residential mortgage-backed
securities (1)  - 3 2 613 618 
Other securities  -  -  - 281 281 
Total fair value $ 4,280 $ 13,140 $ 8,838 $ 25,607 $ 51,865 
Total amortized cost $ 4,272 $ 13,136 $ 8,835 $ 25,549 $ 51,792 
Securities held to maturity:
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities (1) $  - $ 371 $ 11,555 $ 14,920 $ 26,846 
Other securities 100  - 340 431 871 
Total fair value $ 100 $ 371 $ 11,895 $ 15,351 $ 27,717 
Total amortized cost $ 100 $ 364 $ 12,349 $ 15,406 $ 28,219 

(1) Mortgage-backed securities have been allocated to maturity groupings based on final contractual maturities.
Actual maturities will differ from final contractual maturities because borrowers on a certain portion of loans
underlying these securities have the right to prepay their obligations.

Proceeds and gross realized gains from sales of securities available for sale are as follows:

Three Months Ended
Nine Months
Ended
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September 30, September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012

Proceeds $ 1,661 $ 201 $ 4,665 $ 1,524 
Gross realized gains $ 2 $  - $ 5 $ 2 

3.Loans to Banking Clients and Related Allowance for Loan Losses

The composition of loans to banking clients by loan segment is as follows:

September
30,

December
31,

2013 2012
Residential real estate mortgages $ 7,835 $ 6,507 
Home equity lines of credit 3,054 3,287 
Personal loans secured by securities 1,247 963 
Other 31 25 
Total loans to banking clients (1) 12,167 10,782 
Allowance for loan losses (52) (56)
Total loans to banking clients – net $ 12,115 $ 10,726 

(1) All loans are evaluated for impairment by loan segment.

The Company has commitments to extend credit related to unused home equity lines of credit (HELOCs), personal
loans secured by securities, and other lines of credit, which totaled $5.6 billion and $5.4 billion at September 30, 2013
and December 31, 2012, respectively.
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Changes in the allowance for loan losses were as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012
Residential Residential
real
estate

Home
equity

real
estate

Home
equity

mortgages

lines
of
credit Total mortgages

lines
of
credit Total

Balance at beginning of period $ 40 $ 17 $ 57 $ 34 $ 17 $ 51 
Charge-offs (1) (1) (2) (2) (3) (5)
Recoveries 1  - 1 1  - 1 
Provision for loan losses (6) 2 (4) 2 8 10 
Balance at end of period $ 34 $ 18 $ 52 $ 35 $ 22 $ 57 

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012
Residential Residential
real
estate

Home
equity

real
estate

Home
equity

mortgages

lines
of
credit Total mortgages

lines
of
credit Total

Balance at beginning of period $ 36 $ 20 $ 56 $ 40 $ 14 $ 54 
Charge-offs (4) (4) (8) (6) (7) (13)
Recoveries 2 1 3 2  - 2 
Provision for loan losses  - 1 1 (1) 15 14 
Balance at end of period $ 34 $ 18 $ 52 $ 35 $ 22 $ 57 

Included in the loan portfolio are nonaccrual loans totaling $46 million and $48 million at September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively. There were no loans accruing interest that were contractually 90 days or more past
due at September 30, 2013 or December 31, 2012. Nonperforming assets, which include nonaccrual loans and other
real estate owned, totaled $49 million and $54 million at September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively. Troubled debt restructurings were not material at September 30, 2013 or December 31, 2012.
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In 2012, Schwab Bank launched a co-branded loan origination program for Schwab Bank clients (the Program) with
Quicken Loans, Inc. (Quicken® Loans®). Pursuant to the Program, Quicken Loans originates and services first lien
residential real estate mortgage loans (First Mortgages) and HELOCs for Schwab Bank clients. Under the Program,
Schwab Bank purchases certain First Mortgages and HELOCs that are originated by Quicken Loans. Schwab Bank
sets the underwriting guidelines and pricing for all loans it intends to purchase for its portfolio. Schwab Bank
purchased First Mortgages of $862 million and $923 million during the third quarters of 2013 and 2012, respectively,
and $3.1 billion and $1.5 billion during the first nine months of 2013 and 2012, respectively. The First Mortgages
purchased under the Program are included in the First mortgages loan class in the tables below.

The delinquency analysis by loan class is as follows: 

>90 days
past

30-59 days 60-89 days
due and
other Total Total

September 30, 2013 Current past due past due
nonaccrual
loans past due loans

Residential real estate mortgages:
First mortgages $ 7,632 $ 7 $ 2 $ 30 $ 39 $ 7,671 
Purchased first mortgages 158 1 1 4 6 164 
Home equity lines of credit 3,037 3 2 12 17 3,054 
Personal loans secured by securities 1,247  -  -  -  - 1,247 
Other 31  -  -  -  - 31 
Total loans to banking clients $ 12,105 $ 11 $ 5 $ 46 $ 62 $ 12,167 
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>90 days
past

30-59 days 60-89 days
due and
other Total Total

December 31, 2012 Current past due past due
nonaccrual
loans past due loans

Residential real estate mortgages:
First mortgages $ 6,291 $ 22 $ 2 $ 33 $ 57 $ 6,348 
Purchased first mortgages 154 1  - 4 5 159 
Home equity lines of credit 3,269 5 2 11 18 3,287 
Personal loans secured by securities 963  -  -  -  - 963 
Other 22 3  -  - 3 25 
Total loans to banking clients $ 10,699 $ 31 $ 4 $ 48 $ 83 $ 10,782 

In addition to monitoring delinquency, the Company monitors the credit quality of residential real estate mortgages
and HELOCs by stratifying the portfolios by the year of origination, borrower FICO scores at origination (Origination
FICO), updated borrower FICO scores (Updated FICO), loan-to-value (LTV) ratios at origination (Origination LTV),
and estimated current LTV ratios (Estimated Current LTV), as presented in the following tables. Borrowers’
FICO scores are provided by an independent third party credit reporting service and were last updated in
September 2013. The Origination LTV and Estimated Current LTV ratios for a HELOC include any first lien
mortgage outstanding on the same property at the time of the HELOC’s origination. The Estimated Current LTV for
each loan is estimated by reference to a home price appreciation index.

10 
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(Unaudited)

Residential real estate
mortgages
First Purchased Home equity

September 30, 2013 mortgages
first
mortgages Total lines of credit

Year of origination
Pre-2009 $ 712 $ 54 $ 766 $ 2,098 
2009 207 4 211 270 
2010 545 8 553 198 
2011 790 39 829 162 
2012 2,477 27 2,504 165 
2013 2,940 32 2,972 161 
Total $ 7,671 $ 164 $ 7,835 $ 3,054 
Origination FICO
<620 $ 10 $ 2 $ 12 $ 1 
620 – 679 98 14 112 20 
680 – 739 1,339 33 1,372 584 
>740 6,224 115 6,339 2,449 
Total $ 7,671 $ 164 $ 7,835 $ 3,054 
Updated FICO
<620 $ 47 $ 5 $ 52 $ 45 
620 – 679 209 12 221 106 
680 – 739 1,061 26 1,087 471 
>740 6,354 121 6,475 2,432 
Total $ 7,671 $ 164 $ 7,835 $ 3,054 
Origination LTV
<70% $ 5,174 $ 112 $ 5,286 $ 2,052 
>70% – <90% 2,480 47 2,527 978 
>90% – <100% 17 5 22 24 
Total $ 7,671 $ 164 $ 7,835 $ 3,054 

Percent of Loans
that are 90+ Days
Past Due and

Weighted Less than 90 Days
Average Utilization Past Due but on

September 30, 2013 Balance
Updated
FICO Rate (1) Nonaccrual Status
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Residential real estate mortgages:
Estimated Current LTV
<70% $ 6,509 774 N/A 0.04 % 
>70% – <90% 1,118 762 N/A 0.29 % 
>90% – <100% 95 741 N/A 3.21 % 
>100% 113 727 N/A 9.12 % 
Total $ 7,835 771 N/A 0.24 % 
Home equity lines of credit:
Estimated Current LTV
<70% $ 2,110 772 36 % 0.12 % 
>70% – <90% 670 762 48 % 0.26 % 
>90% – <100% 131 756 58 % 0.70 % 
>100% 143 740 61 % 1.64 % 
Total $ 3,054 768 39 % 0.25 % 

(1) The Utilization Rate is calculated using the outstanding HELOC balance divided by the associated total line of
credit.

N/A Not applicable.
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Residential real estate
mortgages
First Purchased Home equity

December 31, 2012 mortgages
first
mortgages Total lines of credit

Year of origination
Pre-2009 $ 867 $ 62 $ 929 $ 2,338 
2009 305 6 311 338 
2010 909 12 921 249 
2011 1,270 53 1,323 198 
2012 2,997 26 3,023 164 
Total $ 6,348 $ 159 $ 6,507 $ 3,287 
Origination FICO
<620 $ 10 $ 1 $ 11 $  -
620 – 679 98 16 114 23 
680 – 739 1,141 40 1,181 633 
>740 5,099 102 5,201 2,631 
Total $ 6,348 $ 159 $ 6,507 $ 3,287 
Updated FICO
<620 $ 54 $ 6 $ 60 $ 49 
620 – 679 191 13 204 117 
680 – 739 940 34 974 510 
>740 5,163 106 5,269 2,611 
Total $ 6,348 $ 159 $ 6,507 $ 3,287 
Origination LTV
<70% $ 4,189 $ 97 $ 4,286 $ 2,225 
>70% – <90% 2,142 54 2,196 1,036 
>90% – <100% 17 8 25 26 
Total $ 6,348 $ 159 $ 6,507 $ 3,287 

Percent of Loans
that are 90+ Days
Past Due and

Weighted Less than 90 Days
Average Utilization Past Due but on

December 31, 2012 Balance Rate (1) Nonaccrual Status
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Updated
FICO

Residential real estate mortgages:
Estimated Current LTV
<70% $ 4,162 772 N/A 0.05 % 
>70% – <90% 1,841 764 N/A 0.22 % 
>90% – <100% 168 750 N/A 0.51 % 
>100% 336 741 N/A 5.34 % 
Total $ 6,507 768 N/A 0.38 % 
Home equity lines of credit:
Estimated Current LTV
<70% $ 1,559 773 36 % 0.14 % 
>70% – <90% 1,020 766 46 % 0.18 % 
>90% – <100% 267 759 54 % 0.44 % 
>100% 441 753 59 % 1.06 % 
Total $ 3,287 767 42 % 0.31 % 

(1) The Utilization Rate is calculated using the outstanding HELOC balance divided by the associated total line of
credit.

N/A Not applicable.
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The Company monitors the credit quality of personal loans secured by securities by reviewing the fair value of
collateral to ensure adequate collateralization of at least 100% of the outstanding principal amount of the loans. All of
these personal loans were fully collateralized by securities with fair values in excess of borrowings at September 30,
2013 and December 31, 2012.

4.Borrowings

See note “14 – Borrowings” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, as
updated by its Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2013, relating to the realignment of the Company’s
reportable segments. There have been no significant changes to the Company’s borrowings with the exception of the
issuance disclosed below.

Long-term debt, including unamortized debt discounts and premiums, where applicable, consists of the following:

September
30,

December
31,

2013 2012
Senior Notes $ 1,565 $ 1,288 
Senior Medium-Term Notes, Series A 249 249 
Finance lease obligation 90 95 
Total long-term debt $ 1,904 $ 1,632 

On July 25, 2013, CSC issued $275 million of Senior Notes that mature in 2018 under its universal shelf registration
statement on file with the SEC. The Senior Notes have a fixed interest rate of 2.20% with interest payable
semi-annually.

Annual maturities on long-term debt outstanding at September 30, 2013 are as follows:
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2013 $ 1 
2014 6 
2015 357 
2016 7 
2017 258 
Thereafter 1,292 
Total maturities 1,921 
Unamortized discount, net (17)
Total long-term debt $ 1,904 

5.Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has clients that sell (i.e., write) listed option contracts that are cleared by the Options Clearing
Corporation – a clearing house that establishes margin requirements on these transactions. The Company partially
satisfies the margin requirements by arranging unsecured standby letter of credit agreements (LOCs), in favor of the
Options Clearing Corporation, which are issued by multiple banks. At September 30, 2013, the aggregate face amount
of these LOCs totaled $240 million. There were no funds drawn under any of these LOCs at September 30, 2013. In
connection with its securities lending activities, the Company is required to provide collateral to certain brokerage
clients. The Company satisfies the collateral requirements by providing cash as collateral. 

The Company also provides guarantees to securities clearing houses and exchanges under standard membership
agreements, which require members to guarantee the performance of other members. Under the agreements, if another
member becomes unable to satisfy its obligations to the clearing houses and exchanges, other members would be
required to meet shortfalls. The Company’s liability under these arrangements is not quantifiable and may exceed the
cash and securities it has posted as collateral. However, the potential requirement for the Company to make payments
under these arrangements is remote. Accordingly, no liability has been recognized for these guarantees.

13 
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Legal contingencies: The Company is subject to claims and lawsuits in the ordinary course of business, including
arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, some of which include claims for substantial or unspecified damages.
The Company is also the subject of inquiries, investigations, and proceedings by regulatory and other governmental
agencies.

The Company believes it has strong defenses in all significant matters currently pending and is contesting liability and
any damages claimed. Nevertheless, some of these matters may result in adverse judgments or awards, including
penalties, injunctions or other relief, and the Company may also determine to settle a matter because of the uncertainty
and risks of litigation. Described below are certain matters in which there is a reasonable possibility that a material
loss could be incurred or where the matter may otherwise be of significant interest to stockholders. With respect to all
other pending matters, based on current information and consultation with counsel, it does not appear that the outcome
of any such matter could be material to the financial condition, operating results or cash flows of the Company.
However, predicting the outcome of a litigation or regulatory matter is inherently difficult, requiring significant
judgment and evaluation of various factors, including the procedural status of the matter and any recent developments;
prior experience and the experience of others in similar cases; available defenses, including potential opportunities to
dispose of a case on the merits or procedural grounds before trial (e.g., motions to dismiss or for summary judgment);
the progress of fact discovery; the opinions of counsel and experts regarding potential damages; potential
opportunities for settlement and the status of any settlement discussions; and potential insurance coverage and
indemnification. Often, as in the case of the Auction Rate Securities Regulatory Inquiries and Total Bond Market
Fund Litigation matters described below, it is not possible to reasonably estimate potential liability, if any, or a range
of potential liability until the matter is closer to resolution – pending, for example, further proceedings, the outcome of
key motions or appeals, or discussions among the parties. Numerous issues may have to be developed, such as
discovery of important factual matters and determination of threshold legal issues, which may include novel or
unsettled questions of law. Reserves are established or adjusted or further disclosure and estimates of potential loss are
provided as the matter progresses and more information becomes available.

Auction Rate Securities Regulatory Inquiries: Schwab has been responding to industry wide inquiries from federal and
state regulators regarding sales of auction rate securities to clients who were unable to sell their holdings when the
normal auction process for those securities froze unexpectedly in February 2008. On August 17, 2009, a civil
complaint was filed against Schwab in New York state court by the Attorney General of the State of New York
(NYAG) alleging material misrepresentations and omissions by Schwab regarding the risks of auction rate securities,
and seeking restitution, disgorgement, penalties and other relief, including repurchase of securities held in client
accounts. As reflected in a statement issued August 17, 2009, Schwab has responded that the allegations are without
merit, and has been contesting all charges. By order dated October 24, 2011, the court granted Schwab’s motion to
dismiss the complaint with prejudice. The NYAG appealed, and in a decision issued August 29, 2013, the Appellate
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Division reinstated two of the NYAG’s four causes of action. On September 26, 2013, the NYAG petitioned the
Appellate Division for reconsideration of one of the other two causes of action that the Appellate Division previously
declined to reinstate. The NYAG’s petition for reconsideration remains pending.

Total Bond Market Fund Litigation: On August 28, 2008, a class action lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for
the Northern District of California on behalf of investors in the Schwab Total Bond Market Fund™ (Northstar lawsuit).
The lawsuit, which alleges violations of state law and federal securities law in connection with the fund’s investment
policy, names Schwab Investments (registrant and issuer of the fund’s shares) and CSIM as defendants. Allegations
include that the fund improperly deviated from its stated investment objectives by investing in collateralized mortgage
obligations (CMOs) and investing more than 25% of fund assets in CMOs and mortgage-backed securities without
obtaining a shareholder vote. Plaintiffs seek unspecified compensatory and rescission damages, unspecified equitable
and injunctive relief, costs and attorneys’ fees. Plaintiffs’ federal securities law claim and certain of plaintiffs’ state law
claims were dismissed in proceedings before the court and following a successful petition by defendants to the Ninth
Circuit Court of Appeals. On August 8, 2011, the court dismissed plaintiffs’ remaining claims with prejudice. Plaintiffs
have again appealed to the Ninth Circuit, where the case is currently pending.

optionsXpress Regulatory Matters: optionsXpress entities and individual employees are respondents in certain
pending regulatory matters which predate the Company’s acquisition of optionsXpress. On April 16, 2012,
optionsXpress, Inc. was charged by the SEC in an administrative proceeding alleging violations of the firm’s close-out
obligations under Regulation SHO (short sale delivery rules) in connection with certain customer trading activity.
Trial in the proceeding commenced September 5, 2012. In a decision issued June 7, 2013, the judge held that
optionsXpress violated Regulation SHO and aided and abetted fraudulent trading activity by its customer, and ordered
the firm to pay disgorgement and penalties. The
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Company continues to dispute the allegations and is appealing the decision.  The Company has a contingent liability
associated with this matter, which was not material at September 30, 2013. Separately, on April 19, 2012, the SEC
instituted an administrative proceeding alleging violations of the broker-dealer registration requirements by an
unregistered optionsXpress entity. A settlement consenting to a penalty and cease and desist order was reached with
the SEC in that proceeding on October 22, 2013. The settlement agreement and the Company’s contingent liability
associated with this matter were not material at September 30, 2013.

6.Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities

For a description of the fair value hierarchy and the Company’s fair value methodologies, including the use of
independent third-party pricing services, see note “2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, as updated by the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2013, relating to the realignment of the Company’s reportable segments. There were no
significant changes in these methodologies during the quarter ended September 30, 2013. The Company did not
transfer any assets or liabilities between Level 1 and Level 2 during the quarter ended September 30, 2013, or the year
ended December 31, 2012. In addition, the Company did not adjust prices received from the primary independent
third-party pricing service at September 30, 2013 or December 31, 2012.

Financial Instruments Recorded at Fair Value

The following tables present the fair value hierarchy for assets measured at fair value. Liabilities recorded at fair value
were not material, and therefore are not included in the following tables:

Quoted Prices
in Active Markets Significant Significant
for Identical Other Observable     Unobservable    
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at

September 30, 2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Fair Value
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Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 675 $  - $  - $ 675 
Commercial paper  - 10  - 10 
Total cash equivalents 675 10  - 685 
Investments segregated and on deposit for
regulatory purposes:
Certificates of deposit  - 2,901  - 2,901 
U.S. Government securities  - 2,601  - 2,601 
Total investments segregated and on deposit for
regulatory
purposes  - 5,502  - 5,502 
Other securities owned:
Schwab Funds® money market funds 225  -  - 225 
Equity and bond mutual funds 198  -  - 198 
State and municipal debt obligations  - 43  - 43 
Equity, U.S. Government and corporate debt, and
other
securities 1 15  - 16 
Total other securities owned 424 58  - 482 
Securities available for sale:
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities  - 18,648  - 18,648 
Asset-backed securities  - 14,514  - 14,514 
Corporate debt securities  - 9,372  - 9,372 
Certificates of deposit  - 4,280  - 4,280 
U.S. agency notes  - 4,152  - 4,152 
Non-agency residential mortgage-backed
securities  - 618  - 618 
Other securities  - 281  - 281 
Total securities available for sale  - 51,865  - 51,865 
Total $ 1,099 $ 57,435 $  - $ 58,534 
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Quoted Prices
in Active MarketsSignificant Significant
for Identical Other Observable     Unobservable    
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at

December 31, 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Fair Value
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 413 $  - $  - $ 413 
Commercial paper  - 1,076  - 1,076 
Total cash equivalents 413 1,076  - 1,489 
Investments segregated and on deposit for
regulatory purposes:
Certificates of deposit  - 2,976  - 2,976 
U.S. Government securities  - 1,767  - 1,767 
Total investments segregated and on deposit for
regulatory
purposes  - 4,743  - 4,743 
Other securities owned:
Schwab Funds® money market funds 329  -  - 329 
Equity and bond mutual funds 217  -  - 217 
State and municipal debt obligations  - 48  - 48 
Equity, U.S. Government and corporate debt, and
other
securities 2 40  - 42 
Total other securities owned 548 88  - 636 
Securities available for sale:
U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities  - 20,476  - 20,476 
Asset-backed securities  - 8,164  - 8,164 
Corporate debt securities  - 6,256  - 6,256 
Certificates of deposit  - 6,161  - 6,161 
U.S. agency notes  - 3,464  - 3,464 
Non-agency residential mortgage-backed securities  - 733  - 733 
Commercial paper  - 574  - 574 
Other securities  - 295  - 295 
Total securities available for sale  - 46,123  - 46,123 
Total $ 961 $ 52,030 $  - $ 52,991 
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Financial Instruments Not Recorded at Fair Value

Descriptions of the valuation methodologies and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments
not recorded at fair value are also described in note “2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, as updated by the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2013, relating to the realignment of the Company’s reportable segments. There were no
significant changes in these methodologies or assumptions during the quarter ended September 30, 2013. The
following tables present the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments not recorded at fair value:

Quoted Prices
 in Active Markets Significant Significant

for Identical
Other
Observable Unobservable

Carrying Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at
September 30, 2013 Amount (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Fair Value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,677 $  - $ 6,677 $  - $ 6,677 
Cash and investments segregated and
on deposit for regulatory purposes 18,013  - 18,013  - 18,013 
Receivables from brokers, dealers,
and
clearing organizations 511  - 511  - 511 
Receivables from brokerage clients –
net 13,119  - 13,119  - 13,119 
Securities held to maturity:
U.S. agency mortgage-backed
securities 27,288  - 26,846  - 26,846 
Other securities 931  - 871  - 871 
Total securities held to maturity 28,219  - 27,717  - 27,717 
Loans to banking clients – net:
Residential real estate mortgages 7,801  - 7,803  - 7,803 
Home equity lines of credit 3,036  - 3,043  - 3,043 
Personal loans secured by securities 1,247  - 1,247  - 1,247 
Other 31  - 31  - 31 
Total loans to banking clients – net 12,115  - 12,124  - 12,124 
Other assets 64  - 64  - 64 
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Total $ 78,718 $  - $ 78,225 $  - $ 78,225 
Liabilities:
Deposits from banking clients $ 91,187 $  - $ 91,187 $  - $ 91,187 
Payables to brokers, dealers, and
clearing
organizations 1,207  - 1,207  - 1,207 
Payables to brokerage clients 34,532  - 34,532  - 34,532 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 536  - 536  - 536 
Long-term debt 1,904  - 1,999  - 1,999 
Total $ 129,366 $  - $ 129,461 $  - $ 129,461 
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Quoted Prices
in Active Markets Significant Significant

for Identical
Other
Observable Unobservable

Carrying Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at
December 31, 2012 Amount (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Fair Value
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,174 $  - $ 11,174 $  - $ 11,174 
Cash and investments segregated and
on deposit for regulatory purposes 23,723  - 23,723  - 23,723 
Receivables from brokers, dealers,
and
clearing organizations 333  - 333  - 333 
Receivables from brokerage clients –
net 13,453  - 13,453  - 13,453 
Securities held to maturity:
U.S. agency mortgage-backed
securities 17,750  - 18,289  - 18,289 
Other securities 444  - 443  - 443 
Total securities held to maturity 18,194  - 18,732  - 18,732 
Loans to banking clients – net:
Residential real estate mortgages 6,471  - 6,687  - 6,687 
Home equity lines of credit 3,267  - 3,295  - 3,295 
Personal loans secured by securities 963  - 963  - 963 
Other 25  - 24  - 24 
Total loans to banking clients – net 10,726  - 10,969  - 10,969 
Other assets 64  - 64  - 64 
Total $ 77,667 $  - $ 78,448 $  - $ 78,448 
Liabilities:
Deposits from banking clients $ 79,377 $  - $ 79,377 $  - $ 79,377 
Payables to brokers, dealers, and
clearing
organizations 1,068  - 1,068  - 1,068 
Payables to brokerage clients 40,330  - 40,330  - 40,330 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 353  - 353  - 353 
Long-term debt 1,632  - 1,782  - 1,782 
Total $ 122,760 $  - $ 122,910 $  - $ 122,910 
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Securities lending: Payables from brokers, dealers, and clearing organizations include securities loaned. The Company
loans client securities temporarily to other brokers in connection with its securities lending activities and receives cash
as collateral for the securities loaned. The fair value of client securities pledged in securities lending transactions to
other broker-dealers was $939 million at September 30, 2013 and $852 million at December 31, 2012. Additionally,
the Company borrows securities from other broker-dealers to fulfill short sales by clients, which are included in
receivables from brokers, dealers, and clearing organizations. The fair value of these borrowed securities was
$246 million at September 30, 2013 and $121 million at December 31, 2012. All of the Company’s securities lending
transactions are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements with other broker-dealers. However, the Company
does not net securities lending transactions and therefore, the Company’s securities loaned and securities borrowed are
presented gross in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Resale agreements: Cash and investments segregated and on deposit for regulatory purposes include securities
purchased under agreements to resell (resale agreements), which are collateralized by U.S. Government and agency
securities. Schwab enters into collateralized resale agreements principally with other broker-dealers, which could
result in losses in the event the counterparty fails to purchase the securities held as collateral for the cash advanced and
the fair value of the securities declines. Schwab utilizes the collateral provided under these resale agreements to meet
obligations under broker-dealer client protection rules, which place limitations on its ability to access such segregated
securities. The Company’s resale agreements are not subject to master netting arrangements.
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7.Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income represents cumulative gains and losses that are not reflected in earnings.
The components of other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012

Before Tax
Net
of Before Tax

Net
of

tax effect tax tax effect tax
Change in net unrealized gain on
securities available for sale:
Net unrealized gain $ 72 $ (28) $ 44 $ 250 $ (94) $ 156 
Reclassification of impairment charges
included in net impairment losses
on securities 1  - 1 3 (1) 2 
Other reclassifications included in
other revenue (2)  - (2)  -  -  -
Change in net unrealized gain on
securities available for sale 71 (28) 43 253 (95) 158 
Other comprehensive income $ 71 $ (28) $ 43 $ 253 $ (95) $ 158 

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012

Before Tax Net of Before Tax
Net
of

tax effect tax tax effect tax
Change in net unrealized gain on
securities available for sale:
Net unrealized (loss) gain $ (408) $ 153 $ (255) $ 458 $ (171) $ 287 
Reclassification of impairment charges
included in net impairment losses
on securities 8 (2) 6 28 (10) 18 
Other reclassifications included in
other revenue (5) 1 (4) (1)  - (1)
Change in net unrealized gain on
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securities available for sale (405) 152 (253) 485 (181) 304 
Other 1  - 1  -  -  -
Other comprehensive (loss) income $ (404) $ 152 $ (252) $ 485 $ (181) $ 304 

Accumulated other comprehensive income balances are as follows:

Net
unrealized Total
gain on
securities accumulated other
available
for sale Other comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 10 $ (2) $ 8 
Other net changes 304  - 304 
Balance at September 30, 2012 $ 314 $ (2) $ 312 
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 299 $ (1) $ 298 
Other net changes (253) 1 (252)
Balance at September 30, 2013 $ 46 $  - $ 46 
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(Unaudited)

8.Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share (EPS) is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The computation of diluted EPS is similar
to the computation of basic EPS except that the denominator is increased to include the number of additional common
shares that would have been outstanding if dilutive potential common shares had been issued. Dilutive potential
common shares include, if dilutive, the effect of outstanding stock options and unvested restricted stock awards and
units. EPS under the basic and diluted computations is as follows: 

Three Months
Ended

Nine Months
Ended

September 30, September 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012

Net income $ 290 $ 247 $ 752 $ 717 
Preferred stock dividends (8) (9) (39) (23)
Net income available to common stockholders $ 282 $ 238 $ 713 $ 694 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — basic 1,287 1,274 1,282 1,273 
Common stock equivalent shares related to stock incentive plans 9 1 6 1 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — diluted (1) 1,296 1,275 1,288 1,274 
Basic EPS $   .22 $   .19 $   .55 $   .54
Diluted EPS $   .22 $   .19 $   .55 $   .54

(1) Antidilutive stock options and restricted stock awards excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS totaled
19 million and 59 million shares for the third quarters of 2013 and 2012, respectively, and 31 million and
61 million shares for the first nine months of 2013 and 2012, respectively.

9.Regulatory Requirements
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CSC is a savings and loan holding company and Schwab Bank, CSC’s depository institution subsidiary, is a federal
savings bank. CSC is subject to supervision and regulation by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
(the Federal Reserve) and Schwab Bank is subject to supervision and regulation by the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency (the OCC). CSC is currently not subject to specific statutory capital requirements, however, CSC is
required to serve as a source of strength for Schwab Bank. Under the new regulatory capital rules, which implemented
Basel III and relevant provisions of the “Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act,” CSC will be
subject to minimum leverage and minimum risk-based capital ratio requirements beginning on January 1, 2015. 

Schwab Bank is subject to regulation and supervision and to various requirements and restrictions under federal and
state laws, including regulatory capital guidelines. Among other things, these requirements also restrict and govern the
terms of affiliate transactions, such as extensions of credit and repayment of loans between Schwab Bank and CSC or
CSC’s other subsidiaries. In addition, Schwab Bank is required to provide notice to and may be required to obtain
approval of the OCC and the Federal Reserve to declare dividends to CSC. The federal banking agencies have broad
powers to enforce these regulations, including the power to terminate deposit insurance, impose substantial fines and
other civil and criminal penalties, and appoint a conservator or receiver. Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act,
Schwab Bank could be subject to restrictive actions if it were to fall within one of the lowest three of five capital
categories. Schwab Bank is required to maintain minimum capital levels as specified in federal banking laws and
regulations. Failure to meet the minimum levels could result in certain mandatory, and possibly additional
discretionary, actions by the regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on Schwab Bank. At
September 30, 2013, CSC and Schwab Bank met the capital level requirements.
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(Unaudited)

The regulatory capital and ratios for Schwab Bank at September 30, 2013 are as follows:

Minimum Capital Minimum to be
Actual Requirement Well Capitalized
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital $ 6,345 18.5 % $ 1,369 4.0 % $ 2,053 6.0 % 
Total Risk-Based Capital $ 6,398 18.7 % $ 2,737 8.0 % $ 3,422 10.0 % 
Tier 1 Leverage $ 6,345 6.5 % $ 3,911 4.0 % $ 4,889 5.0 % 
Tangible Equity $ 6,345 6.5 % $ 1,955 2.0 % N/A 

N/A Not applicable.

Based on its regulatory capital ratios at September 30, 2013, Schwab Bank is considered well capitalized (the highest
category) pursuant to banking regulatory guidelines. There are no conditions or events since September 30, 2013, that
management believes have changed Schwab Bank’s capital category.

CSC’s principal U.S. broker-dealers are Schwab and optionsXpress, Inc. Schwab and optionsXpress, Inc. are both
subject to Rule 15c3-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Uniform Net Capital Rule). Schwab and
optionsXpress, Inc. compute net capital under the alternative method permitted by the Uniform Net Capital Rule. This
method requires the maintenance of minimum net capital, as defined, of the greater of 2% of aggregate debit balances
arising from client transactions or a minimum dollar requirement ($250,000 for Schwab), which is based on the type
of business conducted by the broker-dealer. Under the alternative method, a broker-dealer may not repay subordinated
borrowings, pay cash dividends, or make any unsecured advances or loans to its parent company or employees if such
payment would result in a net capital amount of less than 5% of aggregate debit balances or less than 120% of its
minimum dollar requirement.

optionsXpress, Inc. is also subject to Commodity Futures Trading Commission Regulation 1.17 (Reg. 1.17) under the
Commodity Exchange Act, which also requires the maintenance of minimum net capital. optionsXpress, Inc., as a
futures commission merchant, is required to maintain minimum net capital equal to the greater of its net capital
requirement under Reg. 1.17 ($1 million), or the sum of 8% of the total risk margin requirements for all positions
carried in client accounts and 8% of the total risk margin requirements for all positions carried in non-client accounts
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(as defined in Reg. 1.17).

Net capital and net capital requirements for Schwab and optionsXpress, Inc. at September 30, 2013 are as follows:

Net Capital Net Capital
% of Minimum 2% of in Excess of in Excess of 5%
Aggregate Net Capital Aggregate Required of Aggregate

Net
Capital Debit Balances Required Debit Balances Net Capital Debit Balances

Schwab $ 1,361 9 % $ 0.250 $ 288 $ 1,073 $ 642 
optionsXpress, Inc. $ 100 29 % $ 1 $ 7 $ 93 $ 83 

10.Segment Information

The Company structures its operating segments according to its clients and the services provided to those clients. The
Company’s two reportable segments are Investor Services and Advisor Services. In the first quarter of 2013, the
Company realigned its reportable segments as a result of organizational changes. The segment formerly reported as
Institutional Services was renamed to Advisor Services. Additionally, the Retirement Plan Services and Corporate
Brokerage Services business units are now part of the Investor Services segment. Prior period segment information
has been recast to reflect these organizational changes. The Investor Services segment provides retail brokerage and
banking services to individual investors, retirement plan services, and corporate brokerage services. The Advisor
Services segment provides custodial, trading, and support services to independent investment advisors, and retirement
business services to independent retirement plan advisors and recordkeepers whose plan assets are held at Schwab
Bank. Revenues and expenses are allocated to the Company’s two segments based on which segment services the
client.

The Company evaluates the performance of its segments on a pre-tax basis, excluding items such as significant
nonrecurring gains, impairment charges on non-financial assets, discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and
significant restructuring
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(Unaudited)

and other charges. Segment assets and liabilities are not used for evaluating segment performance or in deciding how
to allocate resources to segments. There are no revenues from transactions between the segments.

Financial information for the Company’s reportable segments is presented in the following table:

Investor Services
Advisor
Services Unallocated Total

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Net Revenues:
Asset management and administration fees $ 410 $ 366 $ 173 $ 157 $  - $ 1 $ 583 $ 524 
Net interest revenue 450 387 56 52  -  - 506 439 
Trading revenue 153 145 71 60  - (1) 224 204 
Other 44 26 13 16  -  - 57 42 
Provision for loan losses 3 (10) 1  -  -  - 4 (10)
Net impairment losses on securities  - (2) (1) (1)  -  - (1) (3)
Total net revenues 1,060 912 313 284  -  - 1,373 1,196 
Expenses Excluding Interest 705 657 204 178  -  - 909 835 
Income before taxes on income $ 355 $ 255 $ 109 $ 106 $  - $  - $ 464 $ 361 
Taxes on income 174 114 
Net Income $ 290 $ 247 

Investor Services
Advisor
Services Unallocated Total

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Net Revenues:
Asset management and administration
fees $ 1,199 $ 1,057 $ 508 $ 447 $  - $  - $ 1,707 $ 1,504 
Net interest revenue 1,281 1,178 167 153  -  - 1,448 1,331 
Trading revenue 462 475 220 192  - (1) 682 666 
Other (1) 129 87 43 50  - 72 172 209 
Provision for loan losses (1) (13)  - (1)  -  - (1) (14)
Net impairment losses on securities (7) (25) (1) (3)  -  - (8) (28)
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Total net revenues 3,063 2,759 937 838  - 71 4,000 3,668 
Expenses Excluding Interest 2,178 2,014 615 548  -  - 2,793 2,562 
Income before taxes on income $ 885 $ 745 $ 322 $ 290 $  - $ 71 $ 1,207 $ 1,106 
Taxes on income 455 389 
Net Income $ 752 $ 717 

(1) Unallocated amount includes a pre-tax gain of $70 million relating to a confidential resolution of a vendor dispute
in the second quarter of 2012.

11.Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated the impact of events that have occurred subsequent to September 30, 2013, through the
date the condensed consolidated financial statements were filed with the SEC. Based on this evaluation, other than as
recorded or disclosed within these condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes, the Company has
determined none of these events were required to be recognized or disclosed. 
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Item 2.Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OVERVIEW

Management of The Charles Schwab Corporation (CSC) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the Company)
focuses on several key client activity and financial metrics in evaluating the Company’s financial position and
operating performance. Results for the third quarters and first nine months of 2013 and 2012 are:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, Percent September 30, Percent
2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change

Client Activity Metrics:
Net new client assets (1) (2) (in billions) $ 18.1 $ 20.4 (11) % $ 39.8 $ 75.3 (47) %
Client assets (2) (in billions, at quarter
end) $ 2,145.0 $ 1,890.4 13 %
New brokerage accounts (in thousands) 223 198 13 % 710 659 8 %
Active brokerage accounts (in thousands,
at quarter end) 9,013 8,736 3 %
Company Financial Metrics:
Net revenues (3) $ 1,373 $ 1,196 15 % $ 4,000 $ 3,668 9 %
Expenses excluding interest 909 835 9 % 2,793 2,562 9 %
Income before taxes on income 464 361 29 % 1,207 1,106 9 %
Taxes on income (4) 174 114 53 % 455 389 17 %
Net income $ 290 $ 247 17 % $ 752 $ 717 5 %
Preferred stock dividends $ 8 $ 9 (11) % $ 39 $ 23 70 %
Net income available to common
stockholders $ 282 $ 238 18 % $ 713 $ 694 3 %
Earnings per common share – diluted $ .22 $ .19 16 % $ .55 $ .54 2 %
Net revenue growth from prior year 15 % 1 % 9 % 3 % 
Pre-tax profit margin 33.8 % 30.2 % 30.2 % 30.2 % 
Return on average common stockholders’
equity (annualized) (5) 13 % 11 % 11 % 11 % 
Annualized net revenue per average
full-time
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equivalent employee (in thousands) $ 398 $ 352 13 % $ 384 $ 354 8 %

(1) Includes outflows of $44.3 billion in the second quarter of 2013 relating to the planned transfer of a mutual fund
clearing services client. Includes outflows of $1.3 billion as a result of the closure and/or sale of certain
subsidiaries of optionsXpress Holdings, Inc. in the third quarter of 2012. Includes inflows of $12.0 billion in the
first quarter of 2012 from a mutual fund clearing services client.

(2) In the third quarter of 2013, the Company reduced its reported total for overall client assets by $24.7 billion to
reflect the estimated impact of the consolidation of its retirement plan recordkeeping technology platforms and
subsequent resignation from certain retirement plan clients.

(3) Includes a pre-tax gain of $70 million relating to a confidential resolution of a vendor dispute in the second
quarter of 2012.

(4) Includes a nonrecurring state tax benefit of $20 million recognized in the third quarter of 2012.
(5) Calculated as net income available to common stockholders divided by average common stockholders’ equity.

The broad equity markets improved during the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012, as the
Nasdaq Composite Index, Standard & Poor’s 500 Index, and Dow Jones Industrial Average increased 21%, 17%, and
13%, respectively. Short-term interest rates continued to be constrained as the federal funds target rate remained
unchanged at a range of zero to 0.25% and the average three-month Treasury Bill yield decreased by 7 basis points to
0.02% during the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012. Long-term interest rates increased
during the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012, including the average 10-year Treasury yield,
which increased by 107 basis points to 2.69%.
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The Company continued to experience strength in its key client activity metrics during the third quarter of 2013 – core
net new client assets totaled $42.8 billion, up 97% from the third quarter of 2012, and the highest in the Company’s
history for a summer quarter. Total client assets ended the quarter at $2.15 trillion, up 13% from the third quarter of
2012. In addition, the Company added 223,000 new brokerage accounts to its client base during the third quarter of
2013, up 13%, and active brokerage accounts were 9.0 million, up 3% on a year-over-year basis.

For the third quarter of 2013, the Company’s net revenues increased by 15% from the third quarter of 2012. All of the
Company’s major sources of net revenues (net interest revenue, asset management and administration fees, and trading
revenue) increased. Net interest revenue increased primarily due to higher balances of interest-earning assets partially
offset by the effect lower average short-term interest rates had on the Company’s average net interest margin. Asset
management and administration fees increased primarily due to increases in advice solutions fees and mutual fund
service fees. Trading revenue increased primarily due to higher daily average revenue trades.

For the first nine months of 2013, net revenues increased by 9% compared to the first nine months of 2012 primarily
due to increases in asset management and administration fees and net interest revenue, partially offset by a decrease in
other revenue. Asset management and administration fees increased primarily due to increases in advice solutions fees
and mutual fund service fees. Net interest revenue increased primarily due to higher balances of interest-earning assets
partially offset by the effect lower average short-term interest rates had on the Company’s average net interest margin.
Other revenue decreased primarily due to a gain of $70 million relating to a confidential resolution of a vendor dispute
in the second quarter of 2012.

Expenses excluding interest increased by 9% in both the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the
same periods in 2012, primarily due to increases in compensation and benefits, advertising and market development,
professional services, and other expense. Compensation and benefits expense increased in the third quarter and first
nine months of 2013, primarily due to higher incentive compensation relating to the transition to a new payout
schedule for field incentive plans and increased field sales volume. The increase in compensation and benefits in the
first nine months of 2013 was also due to increased and accelerated health savings account (HSA) contributions and
equity incentive plan changes to vesting for retirement-eligible employees in the first quarter of 2013. Advertising and
market development expense increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013, primarily due to the
Company’s new advertising and branding initiative, Own your tomorrow™.

As a result of the Company’s strong key client activity metrics, the Company achieved a pre-tax profit margin of
33.8% and 30.2% in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013, respectively. Overall, net income increased by

Edgar Filing: VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP - Form 10-Q

70



17% and 5% in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, respectively.
The return on average common stockholders’ equity was 13% and 11% in the third quarter and first nine months of
2013, respectively.  As discussed above, net income for the first nine months of 2012 includes a pre-tax gain of
$70 million (after-tax of $44 million) recognized in the second quarter of 2012, and a nonrecurring state tax benefit of
$20 million that reduced taxes on income in the third quarter of 2012, which affects the comparability of the
Company’s financial metrics year-over-year.

CURRENT MARKET AND REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT AND OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

To the extent short-term interest rates remain at current low levels, the Company’s net interest revenue will continue to
be constrained, even as growth in average balances helps to increase such revenue. The low short-term interest rate
environment also affects asset management and administration fees. The Company continues to waive a portion of its
management fees, as the overall yields on certain Schwab-sponsored money market mutual funds have remained at
levels at or below the management fees on those funds. These and other money market mutual funds may not be able
to replace maturing securities with securities of equal or higher yields. As a result, the yields on such funds may
remain around or decline from their current levels, and therefore below the stated management fees on those funds. To
the extent this occurs, asset management and administration fees may be negatively affected.

On July 2, 2013, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the Federal Reserve) issued regulatory
capital rules, which implemented Basel III and relevant provisions of the “Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act” (the Dodd-Frank Act), that will be phased in beginning on January 1, 2015. The final rules
will subject savings and loan holding companies, such as CSC, to consolidated capital requirements. In addition, the
final rules establish more restrictive capital definitions, higher risk-weightings for certain asset classes, higher
minimum capital ratios and capital buffers. On
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July 9, 2013, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the OCC) issued similar regulatory capital rules
applicable to federal savings banks, including Schwab Bank. The Company is evaluating the impact of the new rules,
but does not expect them to have a material impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, or results of
operations.

On October 24, 2013, the Federal Reserve, in collaboration with the OCC and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, issued a joint notice of proposed rulemaking that would implement a quantitative liquidity requirement
generally consistent with the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) standard established by Basel III. The LCR would apply
to all internationally active banking organizations. The Federal Reserve also proposed a modified LCR standard,
which would apply to the Company. Under the modified LCR, a depository institution holding company would be
required to maintain high-quality liquid assets in an amount related to its total net cash outflows over a prospective
period. The proposed transition period for the rule would begin on January 1, 2015, and institutions would be required
to be fully compliant by January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the proposed rule, which
is subject to comment until January 31, 2014, and to further modification.

The Company is pursuing lawsuits in state court in San Francisco for rescission and damages against issuers,
underwriters, and dealers of individual non-agency residential mortgage-backed securities on which the Company has
experienced realized and unrealized losses. The lawsuits allege that offering documents for the securities contained
material untrue and misleading statements about the securities and the underwriting standards and credit quality of the
underlying loans. On January 27, 2012 and July 24, 2012, the court denied defendants’ motions to dismiss the claims
with respect to all but 3 of the 51 securities, and discovery is proceeding.

In April 2013, the SEC published notice of a National Securities Clearing Corporation (NSCC) proposed rule change
that would impose a supplemental liquidity funding obligation on certain NSCC participants. The stated purpose is to
provide the NSCC with sufficient liquidity and financial resources to withstand a default by one of its members. The
rule change, as currently proposed, could require the Company to provide a supplemental liquidity deposit. The
Company does not have sufficient information to assess the potential impact of the proposed rule change, which is
subject to comment and further modification.

As a result of the current U.S. budget deficit concerns, one or more of the credit rating agencies may downgrade the
U.S. government’s credit rating. Any downgrade could decrease the value of the Company’s securities in both the
available for sale and held to maturity portfolios.
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Results of Operations

The following discussion presents an analysis of the Company’s results of operations for the third quarter and first nine
months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012.

Net Revenues

The Company’s major sources of net revenues are asset management and administration fees, net interest revenue, and
trading revenue, all of which increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods
in 2012.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012
% of % of

Percent Total Net Total Net
Change Amount Revenues Amount Revenues

Asset management and administration fees
Schwab money market funds before fee waivers 8 % $ 239 $ 221 
Fee waivers 32 % (180) (136)
Schwab money market funds after fee waivers (31) % 59 4 % 85 7 % 
Equity and bond funds 28 % 41 3 % 32 3 % 
Mutual Fund OneSource® 14 % 195 14 % 171 14 % 
Total mutual funds 2 % 295 21 % 288 24 % 
Advice solutions 24 % 183 14 % 148 12 % 
Other 19 % 105 8 % 88 8 % 
Asset management and administration fees 11 % 583 43 % 524 44 % 
Net interest revenue
Interest revenue 11 % 531 39 % 478 40 % 
Interest expense (36) % (25) (2) % (39) (3) %
Net interest revenue 15 % 506 37 % 439 37 % 
Trading revenue
Commissions 11 % 210 15 % 190 16 % 
Principal transactions  - 14 1 % 14 1 % 
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Trading revenue 10 % 224 16 % 204 17 % 
Other 36 % 57 4 % 42 3 % 
Provision for loan losses (140)% 4  - (10) (1) %
Net impairment losses on securities (67) % (1)  - (3)  -
Total net revenues 15 % $ 1,373 100 % $ 1,196 100 % 
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012
% of % of

Percent Total Net Total Net
Change Amount Revenues Amount Revenues

Asset management and administration fees
Schwab money market funds before fee waivers 5 % $ 695 $ 663 
Fee waivers 11 % (492) (445)
Schwab money market funds after fee waivers (7) % 203 5 % 218 6 % 
Equity and bond funds 20 % 114 3 % 95 2 % 
Mutual Fund OneSource® 14 % 570 14 % 501 14 % 
Total mutual funds 9 % 887 22 % 814 22 % 
Advice solutions 22 % 523 13 % 427 12 % 
Other 13 % 297 8 % 263 7 % 
Asset management and administration fees 13 % 1,707 43 % 1,504 41 % 
Net interest revenue
Interest revenue 6 % 1,527 38 % 1,447 39 % 
Interest expense (32) % (79) (2) % (116) (3) %
Net interest revenue 9 % 1,448 36 % 1,331 36 % 
Trading revenue
Commissions 4 % 647 16 % 624 17 % 
Principal transactions (17) % 35 1 % 42 1 % 
Trading revenue 2 % 682 17 % 666 18 % 
Other (18) % 172 4 % 209 6 % 
Provision for loan losses (93) % (1)  - (14)  -
Net impairment losses on securities (71) % (8)  - (28) (1) % 
Total net revenues 9 % $ 4,000 100 % $ 3,668 100 % 

Asset Management and Administration Fees

Asset management and administration fees include mutual fund service fees and fees for other asset-based financial
services provided to individual and institutional clients. The Company earns mutual fund service fees for shareholder
services, administration, and investment management provided to its proprietary funds, and recordkeeping and
shareholder services provided to third-party funds. These fees are based upon the daily balances of client assets
invested in these funds. The Company also earns asset management fees for advice solutions, which include advisory
and managed account services that are based on the daily balances of client assets subject to the specific fee for
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service. The fair values of client assets included in proprietary and third-party mutual funds are based on quoted
market prices and other observable market data. Other asset management and administration fees include various asset
based fees, such as third-party mutual fund service fees, trust fees, 401k record keeping fees, and mutual fund clearing
and other service fees. Asset management and administration fees vary with changes in the balances of client assets
due to market fluctuations and client activity. For a discussion of the impact of current market conditions on asset
management and administration fees, see “Current Market and Regulatory Environment and Other Developments.”

Asset management and administration fees increased by $59 million, or 11%, and $203 million, or 13%, in the third
quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, primarily due to increases in advice
solutions fees and mutual fund service fees.

Mutual fund service fees increased by $7 million, or 2%, and $73 million, or 9%, in the third quarter and first nine
months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, primarily due to market appreciation of client assets invested
in the Company’s Mutual Fund OneSource funds, and due to growth in client assets invested in money market mutual
funds and equity and bond funds, partially offset by a decrease in net money market mutual fund fees as a result of
lower yields on fund assets.
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Advice solutions fees increased by $35 million, or 24%, and $96 million, or 22%, in the third quarter and first nine
months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, primarily due to growth in client assets enrolled in advisory
offers, including Windhaven®, Schwab Private Client™, and ThomasPartners®.

Net Interest Revenue

Net interest revenue is the difference between interest earned on interest-earning assets and interest paid on funding
sources. Net interest revenue is affected by changes in the volume and mix of these assets and liabilities, as well as by
fluctuations in interest rates and portfolio management strategies. The majority of the Company’s interest-earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities are sensitive to changes in short-term interest rates. The Company’s investment
strategy is structured to produce an increase in net interest revenue when interest rates rise and, conversely, a decrease
in net interest revenue when interest rates fall (i.e., interest-earning assets generally reprice more quickly than
interest-bearing liabilities). When interest rates fall, the Company may attempt to mitigate some of this negative
impact by extending the maturities of assets in investment portfolios to lock in asset yields, and by lowering rates paid
to clients on interest-bearing liabilities. Since the Company establishes the rates paid on certain brokerage client cash
balances and deposits from banking clients, as well as the rates charged on receivables from brokerage clients, and
also controls the composition of its investment securities, it has some ability to manage its net interest spread.
However, the spread is influenced by external factors such as the interest rate environment and competition. The
current low interest rate environment limits the extent to which the Company can reduce interest expense paid on
funding sources. For discussion of the impact of current market conditions on net interest revenue, see “Current Market
and Regulatory Environment and Other Developments.”

The Company’s interest-earning assets are financed primarily by brokerage client cash balances and deposits from
banking clients. Non-interest-bearing funding sources include non-interest-bearing brokerage client cash balances and
proceeds from stock-lending activities, as well as stockholders’ equity.

Schwab Bank maintains liquidity, available for sale, and held to maturity investment portfolios for liquidity as well as
to invest funds from deposits that are in excess of loans to banking clients and liquidity requirements. Schwab Bank
lends funds to banking clients primarily in the form of mortgage loans and home equity lines of credit (HELOCs).
These loans are largely funded by interest-bearing deposits from banking clients.
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In clearing their clients’ trades, Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (Schwab) and optionsXpress, Inc. hold cash balances
payable to clients. In most cases, Schwab and optionsXpress, Inc. pay their clients interest on cash balances awaiting
investment, and in turn invest these funds and earn interest revenue. Receivables from brokerage clients consist
primarily of margin loans to brokerage clients. Margin loans are loans made to clients on a secured basis to purchase
securities. Pursuant to applicable regulations, client cash balances that are not used for margin lending are generally
segregated into investment accounts that are maintained for the exclusive benefit of clients, which are recorded in cash
and investments segregated on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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The following table presents net interest revenue information corresponding to interest-earning assets and funding
sources on the condensed consolidated balance sheet:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012
Interest Average Interest Average

Average Revenue/ Yield/ Average Revenue/ Yield/
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

Interest-earning assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,034 $ 4 0.20 % $ 7,942 $ 4 0.20 % 
Cash and investments segregated 24,425 8 0.13 % 23,516 12 0.20 % 
Broker-related receivables (1) 351  - 0.01 % 414  -  -
Receivables from brokerage clients 11,846 109 3.65 % 10,956 112 4.07 % 
Securities available for sale (2) 49,205 138 1.11 % 40,701 146 1.43 % 
Securities held to maturity 26,819 166 2.46 % 15,311 95 2.47 % 
Loans to banking clients 12,004 84 2.78 % 10,014 77 3.06 % 
Loans held for sale (1)  -  -  - 1  - 4.06 % 
Total interest-earning assets 132,684 509 1.52 % 108,855 446 1.63 % 
Other interest revenue 22 32 
Total interest-earning assets $ 132,684 $ 531 1.59 % $ 108,855 $ 478 1.74 % 
Funding sources:
Deposits from banking clients $ 87,793 $ 7 0.03 % $ 67,027 $ 11 0.07 % 
Payables to brokerage clients 29,312 1 0.01 % 28,435 1 0.01 % 
Long-term debt 1,833 17 3.68 % 1,923 27 5.59 % 
Total interest-bearing liabilities 118,938 25 0.08 % 97,385 39 0.16 % 
Non-interest-bearing funding sources 13,746 11,470 
Total funding sources $ 132,684 $ 25 0.08 % $ 108,855 $ 39 0.14 % 
Net interest revenue $ 506 1.51 % $ 439 1.60 % 

(1) Interest revenue was less than $500,000 in the periods presented.
(2) Amounts have been calculated based on amortized cost.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 2012
Interest Average Interest Average

Average Revenue/ Yield/ Average Revenue/ Yield/
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

Interest-earning assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,094 $ 12 0.23 % $ 6,741 $ 12 0.24 % 
Cash and investments segregated 26,148 29 0.15 % 25,259 33 0.17 % 
Broker-related receivables (1) 370  - 0.09 % 345  - 0.02 % 
Receivables from brokerage clients 11,588 321 3.70 % 10,750 333 4.14 % 
Securities available for sale (2) 48,250 413 1.14 % 38,443 443 1.54 % 
Securities held to maturity 23,601 430 2.44 % 15,175 302 2.66 % 
Loans to banking clients 11,569 243 2.81 % 9,921 233 3.14 % 
Loans held for sale  -  -  - 24 1 4.12 % 
Total interest-earning assets 128,620 1,448 1.51 % 106,658 1,357 1.70 % 
Other interest revenue 79 90 
Total interest-earning assets $ 128,620 $ 1,527 1.59 % $ 106,658 $ 1,447 1.81 % 
Funding sources:
Deposits from banking clients $ 83,492 $ 24 0.04 % $ 63,577 $ 31 0.07 % 
Payables to brokerage clients 30,847 2 0.01 % 29,651 2 0.01 % 
Long-term debt 1,699 51 4.01 % 1,974 81 5.48 % 
Total interest-bearing liabilities 116,038 77 0.09 % 95,202 114 0.16 % 
Non-interest-bearing funding sources 12,582 11,456 
Other interest expense 2 2 
Total funding sources $ 128,620 $ 79 0.08 % $ 106,658 $ 116 0.14 % 
Net interest revenue $ 1,448 1.51 % $ 1,331 1.67 % 

(1) Interest revenue was less than $500,000 in the periods presented.
(2) Amounts have been calculated based on amortized cost.

Net interest revenue increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in
2012, primarily due to higher balances of interest-earning assets, including securities available for sale and securities
held to maturity, partially offset by the effect lower average short-term interest rates had on the Company’s average net
interest margin. The current low interest rate environment limited the extent to which the Company could reduce
interest expense paid on funding sources. The growth in the average balance of deposits from banking clients funded
the increase in the balances of securities available for sale and securities held to maturity. Net interest revenue also
increased due to the redemption of higher rate trust preferred securities and the exchange of higher rate Senior Notes
in the third quarter of 2012.
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Trading Revenue

Trading revenue includes commission and principal transaction revenues. Commission revenue is affected by the
number of revenue trades executed and the average revenue earned per revenue trade. Principal transaction revenue is
primarily comprised of revenue from trading activity in client fixed income securities. To accommodate clients’ fixed
income trading activity, the Company maintains positions in fixed income securities, including state and municipal
debt obligations, U.S. Government, corporate debt, and other securities. The difference between the price at which the
Company buys and sells securities to and from its clients and other broker-dealers is recognized as principal
transaction revenue. Principal transaction revenue also includes gains and losses on these securities positions. Factors
that influence principal transaction revenue include the volume of client trades and market price volatility.
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Trading revenue increased by $20 million, or 10%, in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third quarter of 2012,
primarily due to higher daily average revenue trades and one additional trading day during the quarter. Trading
revenue remained relatively flat in the first nine months of 2013 compared to the first nine months of 2012 as trading
activity remained relatively muted. Daily average revenue trades increased in the third quarter of 2013, primarily due
to a higher volume of equity and mutual fund trades, partially offset by a lower volume of future and option trades.
Daily average revenue trades were relatively flat in the first nine months of 2013, primarily due to a higher volume of
equity and mutual fund trades, offset by a lower volume of future and option trades. Average revenue per revenue
trade also remained relatively flat in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in
2012.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, Percent September 30, Percent
2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change

Daily average revenue trades (1) (in thousands) 283.2 261.5 8 % 294.4 288.3 2 %
Clients’ daily average trades (2) (in thousands) 478.6 402.4 19 % 491.4 438.0 12 %
Number of trading days 63.5 62.5 2 % 187.5 187.5  -
Average revenue per revenue trade $ 12.39 $ 12.44  - $ 12.30 $ 12.31  -

(1) Includes all client trades that generate trading revenue (i.e., commission revenue or principal transaction revenue).
(2) Includes daily average revenue trades, trades by clients in asset-based pricing relationships, and all

commission-free trades, including the Company’s Mutual Fund OneSource funds and ETFs, and other proprietary
products. Clients’ daily average trades is an indicator of client engagement with securities markets.

Other Revenue

Other revenue includes nonrecurring gains, order flow revenue, software fees from the Company’s portfolio
management services, exchange processing fees, realized gains or losses on sales of securities available for sale, and
other service fees. Other revenue increased by $15 million, or 36%, in the third quarter of 2013 compared to the third
quarter of 2012, primarily due to an increase in order flow revenue that Schwab began receiving in November 2012.
Other revenue decreased by $37 million, or 18%, in the first nine months of 2013 compared to the first nine months of
2012, primarily due to a gain of $70 million relating to a confidential resolution of a vendor dispute in the second
quarter of 2012, partially offset by the increase in order flow revenue mentioned above.
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Net Impairment Losses on Securities

Net impairment losses on securities were $1 million and $8  million in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013,
respectively, and  $3 million and $28 million in the third quarter and first nine months of 2012, respectively. These
charges were lower in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013, reflecting a stabilization of the credit
characteristics of the securities’ underlying loans. For further discussion, see “Item 1 – Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements (Unaudited) – Notes – 2. Securities Available for Sale and Securities Held to Maturity.” 
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Expenses Excluding Interest

As shown in the table below, expenses excluding interest increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013
compared to the same periods in 2012, primarily due to increases in compensation and benefits, advertising and
market development, professional services, and other expense.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, Percent September 30, Percent
2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change

Compensation and benefits $ 482 $ 442 9 % $ 1,512 $ 1,353 12 % 
Professional services 103 98 5 % 308 287 7 %
Occupancy and equipment 77 77  - 231 233 (1) % 
Advertising and market development 57 49 16 % 198 173 14 % 
Communications 55 53 4 % 165 166 (1) %
Depreciation and amortization 51 50 2 % 153 146 5 % 
Other 84 66 27 % 226 204 11 % 
Total expenses excluding interest $ 909 $ 835 9 % $ 2,793 $ 2,562 9 % 
Expenses as a percentage of total net revenues:
Total expenses excluding interest 66 % 70 % 70 % 70 % 
Advertising and market development 4 % 4 % 5 % 5 % 

Compensation and Benefits

Compensation and benefits expense includes salaries and wages, incentive compensation, and related employee
benefits and taxes. Incentive compensation includes variable compensation, discretionary bonuses, and stock-based
compensation. Variable compensation includes payments to certain individuals based on their sales performance.
Discretionary bonuses are based on the Company’s overall performance as measured by earnings per common share,
and therefore will fluctuate with this measure. Stock-based compensation primarily includes employee and board of
director stock options, restricted stock units, and restricted stock awards. 
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Compensation and benefits expense increased by $40 million, or 9%, and $159 million, or 12%, in the third quarter
and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, respectively, primarily due to increases in
salaries and wages and incentive compensation. The following table shows a comparison of certain compensation and
benefits components and employee data: 

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, Percent September 30, Percent
2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change

Salaries and wages $ 272 $ 255 7 % $ 836 $ 785 6 % 
Incentive compensation 137 119 15 % 440 350 26 % 
Employee benefits and other 73 68 7 % 236 218 8 % 
Total compensation and benefits expense $ 482 $ 442 9 % $ 1,512 $ 1,353 12 % 
Compensation and benefits expense as a
percentage of total net revenues:
Salaries and wages 20 % 21 % 21 % 21 % 
Incentive compensation 10 % 10 % 11 % 10 % 
Employee benefits and other 5 % 6 % 6 % 6 % 
Total compensation and benefits expense 35 % 37 % 38 % 37 % 
Full-time equivalent employees (1) (in
thousands)
At quarter end 13.8 13.6 1 %
Average 13.8 13.6 1 % 13.9 13.8 1 % 

(1) Includes full-time, part-time and temporary employees, and persons employed on a contract basis, and excludes
employees of outsourced service providers.
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Salaries and wages increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012,
primarily due to annual salary increases.

Incentive compensation increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in
2012, primarily due to the transition to a new payout schedule for field incentive plans, increased individual sales
performance compensation as a result of higher field sales volume, and higher discretionary bonuses.

Employee benefits and other expense increased in the first nine months of 2013 compared to the first nine months of
2012, primarily due to payroll taxes related to the increase in incentive compensation, and increased and accelerated
contributions to new employee HSAs. The Company funded its entire annual contribution to employee HSAs in the
first quarter of 2013. The Company is converting to HSA-based healthcare and employee enrollment in these plans
rose significantly in 2013.

Expenses Excluding Compensation and Benefits

Professional services expense increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same
periods in 2012, primarily due to an increase in fees paid to outsourced service providers and consultants and higher
spending on printing and fulfillment services.

Advertising and market development expense increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to
the same periods in 2012, primarily due to higher spending on media relating to the launch of the Company’s new
advertising and branding initiative, Own your tomorrow™. The increase in advertising and market development expense
in the first nine months of 2013 was also due to higher spending on customer promotions.

Other expense increased in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012,
primarily due to increases in regulatory assessments and the Company’s reserve for legal contingencies.
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Taxes on Income

The Company’s effective income tax rate on income before taxes was 37.5% and 31.6% for the third quarters of 2013
and 2012, respectively. The Company’s effective income tax rate on income before taxes was 37.7% and 35.2% for the
first nine months of 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase in the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 was
primarily due to the recognition of a nonrecurring state tax benefit of $20 million in the third quarter of 2012.

Segment Information

The Company provides financial services to individuals and institutional clients through two segments – Investor
Services and Advisor Services. In the first quarter of 2013, the Company realigned its reportable segments as a result
of organizational changes. The segment formerly reported as Institutional Services was renamed to Advisor Services.
Additionally, the Retirement Plan Services and Corporate Brokerage Services business units are now part of the
Investor Services segment. Prior period segment information has been recast to reflect these organizational changes.
The Investor Services segment provides retail brokerage and banking services to individual investors, retirement plan
services, and corporate brokerage services. The Advisor Services segment provides custodial, trading, and support
services to independent investment advisors, and retirement business services to independent retirement plan advisors
and recordkeepers whose plan assets are held at Schwab Bank. Revenues and expenses are allocated to the Company’s
two segments based on which segment services the client. The Company evaluates the performance of its segments on
a pre-tax basis, excluding items such as significant nonrecurring gains, impairment charges on non-financial assets,
discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and significant restructuring and other charges. Segment assets and
liabilities are not used for evaluating segment performance or in deciding how to allocate resources to segments.
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Financial information for the Company’s reportable segments is presented in the following tables:

Investor Services Advisor Services
Percent Percent

Three Months Ended September 30, Change 2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 
Net Revenues:
Asset management and administration fees 12 % $ 410 $ 366 10 % $ 173 $ 157 
Net interest revenue 16 % 450 387 8 % 56 52 
Trading revenue 6 % 153 145 18 % 71 60 
Other 69 % 44 26 (19) % 13 16 
Provision for loan losses (130)% 3 (10)  - 1  -
Net impairment losses on securities (100)%  - (2)  - (1) (1)
Total net revenues 16 % 1,060 912 10 % 313 284 
Expenses Excluding Interest 7 % 705 657 15 % 204 178 
Income before taxes on income 39 % $ 355 $ 255 3 % $ 109 $ 106 

Unallocated Total
Percent Percent

Three Months Ended September 30, Change 2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 
Net Revenues:
Asset management and administration fees N/M $  - $ 1 11 % $ 583 $ 524 
Net interest revenue N/M  -  - 15 % 506 439 
Trading revenue N/M  - (1) 10 % 224 204 
Other N/M  -  - 36 % 57 42 
Provision for loan losses N/M  -  - (140)% 4 (10)
Net impairment losses on securities N/M  -  - (67) % (1) (3)
Total net revenues N/M  -  - 15 % 1,373 1,196 
Expenses Excluding Interest N/M  -  - 9 % 909 835 
Income before taxes on income N/M $  - $  - 29 % $ 464 $ 361 
Taxes on income 53 % 174 114 
Net Income 17 % $ 290 $ 247 

N/M Not meaningful.
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Investor Services Advisor Services
Percent Percent

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change 2013 2012 Change 2013 2012
Net Revenues:
Asset management and administration fees 13 % $ 1,199 $ 1,057 14 % $ 508 $ 447 
Net interest revenue 9 % 1,281 1,178 9 % 167 153 
Trading revenue (3) % 462 475 15 % 220 192 
Other 48 % 129 87 (14) % 43 50 
Provision for loan losses (92) % (1) (13) (100)%  - (1)
Net impairment losses on securities (72) % (7) (25) (67) % (1) (3)
Total net revenues 11 % 3,063 2,759 12 % 937 838 
Expenses Excluding Interest 8 % 2,178 2,014 12 % 615 548 
Income before taxes on income 19 % $ 885 $ 745 11 % $ 322 $ 290 

Unallocated Total
Percent Percent

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change 2013 2012 Change 2013 2012
Net Revenues:
Asset management and administration fees N/M $  - $  - 13 % $ 1,707 $ 1,504 
Net interest revenue N/M  -  - 9 % 1,448 1,331 
Trading revenue N/M  - (1) 2 % 682 666 
Other N/M  - 72 (18) % 172 209 
Provision for loan losses N/M  -  - (93) % (1) (14)
Net impairment losses on securities N/M  -  - (71) % (8) (28)
Total net revenues N/M  - 71 9 % 4,000 3,668 
Expenses Excluding Interest N/M  -  - 9 % 2,793 2,562 
Income before taxes on income N/M $  - $ 71 9 % $ 1,207 $ 1,106 
Taxes on income 17 % 455 389 
Net Income 5 % $ 752 $ 717 

N/M Not meaningful.

Investor Services

Net revenues increased by $148 million, or 16%, and $304 million, or 11%, in the third quarter and first nine months
of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, respectively, primarily due to increases in asset management and
administration fees, net interest revenue, and other revenue. Asset management and administration fees increased
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primarily due to increases in advice solutions fees and mutual fund service fees. Advice solutions fees increased due
to growth in client assets enrolled in advisory offers, including Windhaven and Schwab Private Client. Mutual fund
service fees increased primarily due to market appreciation of client assets invested in the Company’s Mutual Fund
OneSource funds, and due to growth in client assets invested in money market mutual funds and equity and bond
funds, partially offset by a decrease in net money market mutual fund fees as a result of lower yields on fund assets.
Net interest revenue increased primarily due to higher balances of interest-earning assets, partially offset by the effect
lower average short-term interest rates had on the Company’s average net interest margin. Other revenue increased
primarily due to an increase in order flow revenue that Schwab began receiving in November 2012. The increase in
net revenues in the first nine months of 2013 was partially offset by a decrease in trading revenue, primarily due to
lower daily average revenue trades.

Expenses excluding interest increased by $48 million, or 7%, and $164 million, or 8%, in the third quarter and first
nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, respectively, primarily due to increases in compensation
and benefits, advertising and market development, and professional services expenses.

Advisor Services

Net revenues increased by $29 million, or 10%, and $99 million, or 12%, in the third quarter and first nine months of
2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, respectively, primarily due to increases in asset management and
administration fees,
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trading revenue, and net interest revenue. Asset management and administration fees increased primarily due to
increases in advice solutions fees and mutual fund service fees. Advice solutions fees increased due to growth in client
assets enrolled in advisory offers, including ThomasPartners. Mutual fund service fees increased primarily due to
market appreciation of client assets invested in the Company’s Mutual Fund OneSource funds, and due to growth in
client assets invested in money market mutual funds and equity and bond funds, partially offset by a decrease in net
money market mutual fund fees as a result of lower yields on fund assets. Trading revenue increased primarily due to
higher daily average revenue trades. Net interest revenue increased primarily due to higher balances of
interest-earning assets, partially offset by the effect lower average short-term interest rates had on the Company’s
average net interest margin.

Expenses excluding interest increased by $26 million, or 15%, and $67 million, or 12%, in the third quarter and first
nine months of 2013 compared to the same periods in 2012, respectively, primarily due to increases in compensation
and benefits, professional services, and advertising and market development expenses.

Unallocated

Other revenue in the first nine months of 2012 includes a gain of $70 million relating to a confidential resolution of a
vendor dispute in the second quarter of 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

CSC conducts substantially all of its business through its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Company’s capital structure
is designed to provide each subsidiary with capital and liquidity to meet its operational needs and regulatory
requirements.

CSC is a savings and loan holding company and Schwab Bank, CSC’s depository institution, is a federal savings bank.
CSC is subject to supervision and regulation by the Federal Reserve and Schwab Bank is subject to supervision and
regulation by the OCC.
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Liquidity

CSC

CSC’s liquidity needs arise from funding its subsidiaries’ operations, including margin and mortgage lending, and
transaction settlement, in addition to funding cash dividends, acquisitions, investments, short- and long-term debt, and
managing statutory capital requirements.

CSC’s liquidity needs are generally met through cash generated by its subsidiaries, as well as cash provided by external
financing. CSC has a Shelf Registration Statement on file with the SEC which enables CSC to issue debt, equity and
other securities. CSC maintains excess liquidity in the form of overnight cash deposits and short-term investments to
cover daily funding needs and to support growth in the Company’s business. Generally, CSC does not hold liquidity at
its subsidiaries in excess of amounts deemed sufficient to support the subsidiaries’ operations, including any regulatory
capital requirements. Schwab, Schwab Bank, and optionsXpress, Inc. are subject to regulatory requirements that may
restrict them from certain transactions with CSC, as further discussed below. Management believes that funds
generated by the operations of CSC’s subsidiaries will continue to be the primary funding source in meeting CSC’s
liquidity needs, providing adequate liquidity to meet Schwab Bank’s capital guidelines, and maintaining Schwab and
optionsXpress, Inc.’s net capital.

On July 25, 2013, CSC issued $275 million of Senior Notes that mature in 2018 under its universal shelf registration
statement on file with the SEC. The Senior Notes have a fixed interest rate of 2.20% with interest payable
semi-annually.

While CSC is not currently subject to specific statutory capital requirements, CSC is required to serve as a source of
strength for Schwab Bank and must have the ability to provide financial assistance if Schwab Bank experiences
financial distress. To manage capital adequacy, the Company currently utilizes a target Tier 1 Leverage Ratio for
CSC, as currently defined by the Federal Reserve, of at least 6%. At September 30, 2013, CSC’s Tier 1 Leverage Ratio
was 6.3%, Tier 1 Capital Ratio was 16.5%, and Total Capital Ratio was 16.6%.
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The following are details of CSC’s long-term debt:

Par Standard
September 30, 2013 Outstanding Maturity Interest Rate Moody’s & Poor’s Fitch
Senior Notes $ 1,581 2015 - 2022 0.850% to 4.45% fixed A2 A A
Medium-Term Notes $ 250 2017 6.375% fixed A2 A A

CSC has authorization from its Board of Directors to issue unsecured commercial paper notes (Commercial Paper
Notes) not to exceed $1.5 billion. Management has set a current limit for the commercial paper program of
$800 million. The maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes may vary, but are not to exceed 270 days from the date
of issue. The commercial paper is not redeemable prior to maturity and cannot be voluntarily prepaid. The proceeds of
the commercial paper program are to be used for general corporate purposes. There were no borrowings of
Commercial Paper Notes outstanding at September 30, 2013. CSC’s ratings for these short-term borrowings are P1 by
Moody’s, A1 by Standard & Poor’s, and F1 by Fitch.

CSC maintains an $800 million committed, unsecured credit facility with a group of 12 banks, which is scheduled to
expire in June 2014. This facility replaced a similar facility that expired in June 2013 and these facilities were unused
during the first nine months of 2013. The funds under this facility are available for general corporate purposes. The
financial covenants under this facility require Schwab to maintain a minimum net capital ratio, as defined, Schwab
Bank to be well capitalized, as defined, and CSC to maintain a minimum level of stockholders’ equity. At
September 30, 2013, the minimum level of stockholders’ equity required under this facility was $7.0 billion (CSC’s
stockholders’ equity at September 30, 2013 was $10.1 billion). Management believes that these restrictions will not
have a material effect on CSC’s ability to meet foreseeable dividend or funding requirements.

CSC also has direct access to $647 million of the $942 million uncommitted, unsecured bank credit lines discussed
below, that are primarily utilized by Schwab to manage short-term liquidity. These lines were not used by CSC during
the first nine months of 2013.

In addition, Schwab provides CSC with a $1.0 billion credit facility, which is scheduled to expire in December 2014.
There were no funds drawn under this facility at September 30, 2013.
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Schwab

Schwab’s liquidity needs relating to client trading and margin borrowing activities are met primarily through cash
balances in brokerage client accounts, which were $32.4 billion and $37.4 billion at September 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively. Management believes that brokerage client cash balances and operating earnings
will continue to be the primary sources of liquidity for Schwab.

Schwab is subject to regulatory requirements of Rule 15c3-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Uniform
Net Capital Rule) that are intended to ensure the general financial soundness and liquidity of broker-dealers. These
regulations prohibit Schwab from repaying subordinated borrowings from CSC, paying cash dividends, or making
unsecured advances or loans to its parent company or employees if such payment would result in a net capital amount
of less than 5% of aggregate debit balances or less than 120% of its minimum dollar requirement of $250,000. At
September 30, 2013, Schwab’s net capital was $1.4 billion (9% of aggregate debit balances), which was $1.1 billion in
excess of its minimum required net capital and $642 million in excess of 5% of aggregate debit balances. 

Schwab is also subject to Rule 15c3-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and other applicable regulations that
require it to maintain cash or qualified securities in a segregated reserve account for the exclusive benefit of clients.
These funds are included in cash and investments segregated and on deposit for regulatory purposes in the Company’s
condensed consolidated balance sheets and are not available as a general source of liquidity.

Most of Schwab’s assets are readily convertible to cash, consisting primarily of short-term (i.e., less than 150 days)
investment-grade, interest-earning investments (the majority of which are segregated for the exclusive benefit of
clients pursuant to regulatory requirements), receivables from brokerage clients, and receivables from brokers, dealers,
and clearing organizations. Client margin loans are demand loan obligations secured by readily marketable securities.
Receivables from
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and payables to brokers, dealers, and clearing organizations primarily represent current open transactions, which
usually settle, or can be closed out, within a few business days.

Schwab has a finance lease obligation related to an office building and land under a 20-year lease. The remaining
finance lease obligation of $90 million at September 30, 2013 is being reduced by a portion of the lease payments over
the remaining lease term of 11 years.

To manage short-term liquidity, Schwab maintains uncommitted, unsecured bank credit lines with a group of six
banks totaling $942 million at September 30, 2013. The need for short-term borrowings arises primarily from timing
differences between cash flow requirements, scheduled liquidation of interest-earning investments, and movements of
cash to meet regulatory brokerage client cash segregation requirements. Schwab used such borrowings for nine days
during the first nine months of 2013, with average daily amounts borrowed of $60 million. There were no borrowings
outstanding under these lines at September 30, 2013.

To partially satisfy the margin requirement of client option transactions with the Options Clearing Corporation,
Schwab has unsecured standby letter of credit agreements (LOCs) with five banks in favor of the Options Clearing
Corporation aggregating $225 million at September 30, 2013. There were no funds drawn under any of these LOC’s
during the first nine months of 2013. In connection with its securities lending activities, Schwab is required to provide
collateral to certain brokerage clients. Schwab satisfies the collateral requirements by providing cash as collateral.

To manage Schwab’s regulatory capital requirement, CSC provides Schwab with a $1.4 billion subordinated revolving
credit facility, which is scheduled to expire in March 2014. The amount outstanding under this facility at
September 30, 2013 was $315 million. Borrowings under this subordinated lending arrangement qualify as regulatory
capital for Schwab.

In addition, CSC provides Schwab with a $2.5 billion credit facility, which is scheduled to expire in December 2014.
Borrowings under this facility do not qualify as regulatory capital for Schwab. There were no funds drawn under this
facility at September 30, 2013.
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Schwab Bank

Schwab Bank’s liquidity needs are met through deposits from banking clients and equity capital.

Deposits from banking clients at September 30, 2013 were $91.2 billion, which includes the excess cash held in
certain Schwab and optionsXpress, Inc. brokerage client accounts that is swept into deposit accounts at Schwab Bank.
At September 30, 2013, these balances totaled $70.7 billion.

Schwab Bank is subject to regulatory requirements that restrict and govern the terms of affiliate transactions, such as
extensions of credit and repayment of loans between Schwab Bank and CSC or CSC’s other subsidiaries. In addition,
Schwab Bank is required to provide notice to and may be required to obtain approval of the OCC and the Federal
Reserve to declare dividends to CSC.

Schwab Bank is required to maintain capital levels as specified in federal banking laws and regulations. Failure to
meet the minimum levels could result in certain mandatory, and possibly additional discretionary actions by the
regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on Schwab Bank. The Company currently utilizes a
target Tier 1 Leverage Ratio for Schwab Bank of at least 6.25%. Based on its regulatory capital ratios at
September 30, 2013, Schwab Bank is considered well capitalized. Schwab Bank’s regulatory capital and ratios are as
follows:

Minimum Capital Minimum to be
Actual Requirement Well Capitalized

September 30, 2013 Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital $ 6,345 18.5 % $ 1,369 4.0 % $ 2,053 6.0 % 
Total Risk-Based Capital $ 6,398 18.7 % $ 2,737 8.0 % $ 3,422 10.0 % 
Tier 1 Leverage $ 6,345 6.5 % $ 3,911 4.0 % $ 4,889 5.0 % 
Tangible Equity $ 6,345 6.5 % $ 1,955 2.0 % N/A 

N/A Not applicable.
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Schwab Bank has access to traditional funding sources such as deposits, federal funds purchased, and repurchase
agreements. Additionally, Schwab Bank has access to short-term funding through the Federal Reserve Bank (FRB)
discount window. Amounts available under the FRB discount window are dependent on the fair value of Schwab
Bank’s securities available for sale and/or securities held to maturity that are pledged as collateral to the FRB. Schwab
Bank maintains policies and procedures necessary to access this funding and tests discount window borrowing
procedures annually. At September 30, 2013, $2.6 billion was available under this arrangement. There were no funds
drawn under this arrangement during the first nine months of 2013.

Schwab Bank maintains a credit facility with the Federal Home Loan Bank System. Amounts available under this
facility are dependent on the amount of Schwab Bank’s residential real estate mortgages and HELOCs that are pledged
as collateral. Schwab Bank maintains policies and procedures necessary to access this funding and tests borrowing
procedures annually. At September 30, 2013, $6.7 billion was available under this facility. There were no funds drawn
under this facility during the first nine months of 2013.

optionsXpress, Inc.

optionsXpress, Inc.’s liquidity needs relating to client trading and margin borrowing activities are met primarily
through cash balances in brokerage client accounts, which were $1.3 billion at September 30, 2013. Management
believes that brokerage client cash balances and operating earnings will continue to be the primary sources of liquidity
for optionsXpress, Inc.

optionsXpress, Inc., is subject to regulatory requirements of the Uniform Net Capital Rule that are intended to ensure
the general financial soundness and liquidity of broker-dealers. These regulations prohibit optionsXpress, Inc. from
paying cash dividends or making unsecured advances or loans to its parent company or employees if such payment
would result in a net capital amount of less than 5% of aggregate debit balances or less than 120% of its minimum
dollar requirement of $250,000. At September 30, 2013, optionsXpress, Inc.’s net capital was $100 million (29% of
aggregate debit balances), which was $93 million in excess of its minimum required net capital and $83 million in
excess of 5% of aggregate debit balances.
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optionsXpress, Inc. is also subject to Commodity Futures Trading Commission Regulation 1.17 (Reg. 1.17) under the
Commodity Exchange Act, which also requires the maintenance of minimum net capital. optionsXpress, Inc. as a
futures commission merchant, is required to maintain minimum net capital equal to the greater of its net capital
requirement under Reg. 1.17 ($1 million), or the sum of 8% of the total risk margin requirements for all positions
carried in customer accounts and 8% of the total risk margin requirements for all positions carried in non-customer
accounts (as defined in Reg. 1.17). At September 30, 2013, optionsXpress, Inc. met the requirements of Reg. 1.17.

Additionally, optionsXpress, Inc. is subject to Rule 15c3-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and other
applicable regulations that require it to maintain cash or qualified securities in a segregated reserve account for the
exclusive benefit of clients. These funds are included in cash and investments segregated and on deposit for regulatory
purposes in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets and are not available as a general source of
liquidity.

To partially satisfy the margin requirement of client option transactions with the Options Clearing Corporation,
optionsXpress, Inc. has an unsecured standby LOC with one bank in favor of the Options Clearing Corporation in the
amount of $15 million at September 30, 2013. There were no funds drawn under this LOC during the first nine
months of 2013.

CSC provides optionsXpress, Inc. with a $200 million credit facility, which is scheduled to expire in December 2014.
Borrowings under this facility do not qualify as regulatory capital for optionsXpress, Inc. There were no borrowings
outstanding under this facility at September 30, 2013.

optionsXpress Holdings, Inc., optionsXpress, Inc.’s parent company, has a term loan with CSC, of which $40 million
was outstanding at September 30, 2013, and it matures in December 2017.  

Capital Resources

The Company monitors both the relative composition and absolute level of its capital structure. Management is
focused on limiting the Company’s use of capital and currently targets a long-term debt to total financial capital ratio
not to exceed 30%.
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The Company’s total financial capital (long-term debt plus stockholders’ equity) at September 30, 2013 was
$12.0 billion, up $736 million, or 7%, from December 31, 2012.

The Company’s cash position (reported as cash and cash equivalents on its condensed consolidated balance sheets) and
cash flows are affected by changes in brokerage client cash balances and the associated amounts required to be
segregated under regulatory guidelines. Timing differences between cash and investments actually segregated on a
given date and the amount required to be segregated for that date may arise in the ordinary course of business, and are
addressed by the Company in accordance with applicable regulations. Other factors which affect the Company’s cash
position and cash flows include investment activity in security portfolios, levels of capital expenditures, acquisition
and divestiture activity, banking client deposit activity, brokerage and banking client loan activity, financing activity
in long-term debt, payments of dividends, and repurchases and issuances of CSC’s preferred and common stock. The
combination of these factors can cause significant fluctuations in the cash position during specific time periods.

Long-term Debt

At September 30, 2013, the Company had long-term debt of $1.9 billion, or 16% of total financial capital, that bears
interest at a weighted-average rate of 3.61%. At December 31, 2012, the Company had long-term debt of $1.6 billion,
or 15% of total financial capital. The Company repaid $4 million of long-term debt in the first nine months of 2013.

On July 25, 2013, CSC issued $275 million of Senior Notes that mature in 2018 under its universal shelf registration
statement on file with the SEC. The Senior Notes have a fixed interest rate of 2.20% with interest payable
semi-annually.

Capital Expenditures

The Company’s capital expenditures were $180 million and $135 million in the first nine months of 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Capital expenditures in the first nine months of 2013 were primarily for developing internal-use
software, software and equipment relating to the Company’s information technology systems, buildings, and land.
Capital expenditures for the first nine months of 2012 were primarily for developing internal-use software, software
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and equipment relating to the Company’s information technology systems, and leasehold improvements. Capitalized
costs for developing internal-use software were $55 million and $40 million in the first nine months of 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

As discussed in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013, management
estimated the full-year 2013 capital expenditures to be approximately 110% higher than 2012. However, during the
current quarter management revised the Company’s estimated full-year 2013 capital expenditures to approximately
90% higher than 2012 levels primarily due to the revised timing of the planned consolidation and relocation of the
Company’s existing office campus in Colorado, offset by increased spending on software.

Dividends

CSC paid common stock cash dividends of $233 million ($0.18 per share) and $231 million ($0.18 per share) in the
first nine months of 2013 and 2012, respectively.

CSC paid Series A Preferred Stock cash dividends of $28 million ($70.00 per share) and $14 million ($36.17 per
share) in the first nine months of 2013 and 2012, respectively. CSC paid Series B Preferred Stock cash dividends of
$22 million ($45.00 per share) and $7 million ($14.17 per share) in the first nine months of 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Share Repurchases

There were no repurchases of CSC’s common stock in the first nine months of 2013 or 2012. As of September 30,
2013, CSC had remaining authority from the Board of Directors to repurchase up to $596 million of its common
stock, which does not have an expiration date.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company enters into various off-balance sheet arrangements in the ordinary course of business, primarily to meet
the needs of its clients. These arrangements include firm commitments to extend credit. Additionally, the Company
enters into guarantees and other similar arrangements as part of transactions in the ordinary course of business. For
discussion on the Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements, see “Part II – Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Liquidity and Capital Resources” in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, as updated by the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2013, relating to the realignment of the Company’s reportable segments, and “Item 1 –
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) – Notes – 5. Commitments and Contingencies.”

Risk Management

The Company’s business activities expose it to a variety of risks, including operational, credit, market, liquidity, and
reputational risk. Identification and management of these risks are essential to the success and financial soundness of
the Company.

For a discussion on risks that the Company faces and the policies and procedures for risk identification, assessment,
and management, see “Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
– Risk Management” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, as updated
by the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2013, relating to the realignment of the Company’s
reportable segments. For updated information on the Company’s credit risk and concentration risk exposures, see
below. See “Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for additional information relating to
market risk.

Risk is inherent in the Company’s business. Consequently, despite the Company’s efforts to identify areas of risk and
implement risk management policies and procedures, there can be no assurance that the Company will not suffer
unexpected losses due to operational or other risks.
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Credit Risk Exposures

The Company’s credit risk exposure related to loans to banking clients is actively managed through individual and
portfolio reviews performed by management. Management regularly reviews asset quality, including concentrations,
delinquencies, nonaccrual loans, charge-offs, and recoveries. All are factors in the determination of an appropriate
allowance for loan losses, which is reviewed quarterly by management. The Company’s mortgage loan portfolios
primarily include first lien residential real estate mortgage loans (First Mortgages) of $7.8 billion and HELOCs of
$3.1 billion at September 30, 2013.

The Company’s First Mortgage portfolio underwriting requirements are generally consistent with the underwriting
requirements in the secondary market for loan portfolios. The Company’s underwriting guidelines include maximum
loan-to-value (LTV) ratios, cash out limits, and minimum Fair Isaac Corporation (FICO) credit scores. The specific
guidelines are dependent on the individual characteristics of a loan (for example, whether the property is a primary or
secondary residence, whether the loan is for investment property, whether the loan is for an initial purchase of a home
or refinance of an existing home, and whether the loan is conforming or jumbo). These credit underwriting standards
have limited the exposure to the types of loans that experienced high foreclosures and loss rates elsewhere in the
industry in recent years. There have been no significant changes to the LTV ratio or FICO score underwriting
guidelines related to the Company’s First Mortgage or HELOC portfolios during the first nine months of 2013. The
Company does not purchase loans that allow for negative amortization and does not purchase subprime loans
(generally defined as extensions of credit to borrowers with a FICO score of less than 620 at origination), unless the
borrower has compensating credit factors. At September 30, 2013, approximately 1% of both the First Mortgage and
HELOC portfolios consisted of loans to borrowers with updated FICO scores of less than 620.

At September 30, 2013, the weighted-average originated LTV ratio was 59% for both the First Mortgage and HELOC
portfolios. The computation of the origination LTV ratio for a HELOC includes any first lien mortgage outstanding on
the same property at the time of origination. At September 30, 2013, 22% of HELOCs ($681 million of the HELOC
portfolio)
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were in a first lien position. The weighted-average originated FICO score was 769 and 768 for the First Mortgage and
HELOC portfolios, respectively.  

The Company monitors the estimated current LTV ratios of its First Mortgage and HELOC portfolios on an ongoing
basis. At September 30, 2013, the weighted-average estimated current LTV ratios were 53% and 60% for the First
Mortgage and HELOC portfolios, respectively. The computation of the estimated current LTV ratio for a HELOC
includes any first lien mortgage outstanding on the same property at the time of the HELOC’s origination. The
Company estimates the current LTV ratio for each loan by reference to a home price appreciation index. The
Company also monitors updated borrower FICO scores, delinquency trends, and verified liquid assets held by
individual borrowers. At September 30, 2013, the weighted-average updated FICO scores were 771 and 768 for the
First Mortgage and HELOC portfolios, respectively.

A portion of the Company’s HELOC portfolio is secured by second liens on the associated properties. Second lien
mortgage loans possess a higher degree of credit risk given the subordination to the first lien holder in the event of
default. At September 30, 2013, $2.4 billion, or 78%, of the HELOC portfolio was in a second lien position. In
addition to the credit monitoring activities described above, the Company also monitors credit risk on second lien
HELOC loans by reviewing the delinquency status of the first lien loan on the associated property. Additionally, at
September 30, 2013, approximately 35% of the HELOC borrowers that had a balance only paid the minimum amount
due.

For more information on the Company’s credit quality indicators relating to its First Mortgage and HELOC portfolios,
including delinquency characteristics, borrower FICO scores at origination, updated borrower FICO scores, LTV
ratios at origination, and estimated current LTV ratios, see “Item 1 – Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited) – Notes – 3. Loans to Banking Clients and Related Allowance for Loan Losses.”

The following table presents certain of the Company’s loan quality metrics as a percentage of total outstanding loans:

September
30,

December
31,

2013 2012
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Loan delinquencies (1) 0.51% 0.77% 
Nonaccrual loans 0.38% 0.45% 
Allowance for loan losses 0.43% 0.52% 

(1) Loan delinquencies include loans that are 30 days or more past due and other nonaccrual loans.

The Company has exposure to credit risk associated with its securities available for sale and securities held to maturity
portfolios, whose fair values totaled $51.9 billion and $27.7 billion at September 30, 2013, respectively. These
portfolios include U.S. agency and non-agency mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed securities, corporate debt
securities, certificates of deposit, U.S. agency notes, and other securities. U.S. agency mortgage-backed securities do
not have explicit credit ratings; however, management considers these to be of the highest credit quality and rating
given the guarantee of principal and interest by the U.S. government-sponsored enterprises.

Non-agency residential mortgage-backed securities include securities collateralized by loans that are considered to be
“Prime” (defined by the Company as loans to borrowers with a FICO score of 620 or higher at origination), and “Alt-A”
(defined by the Company as Prime loans with reduced documentation at origination). The Company has recognized
net impairment losses on these securities. At September 30, 2013, the amortized cost of non-agency residential
mortgage-backed securities represented 1% of the total mortgage-backed securities portfolio. These securities were
originated between 2003 and 2007. At September 30, 2013, with the exception of one corporate bond (with an
amortized cost of $100 million), all of the corporate debt securities and non-mortgage asset-backed securities were
rated investment grade (defined as a rating equivalent to a Moody’s rating of “Baa” or higher, or a Standard & Poor’s
rating of “BBB-” or higher). The one non-investment grade corporate bond, which matures in April 2014, was not
considered other than temporarily impaired at September 30, 2013. 

Concentration Risk Exposures

The Company has exposure to concentration risk when holding large positions in financial instruments collateralized
by assets with similar economic characteristics or in securities of a single issuer or industry.
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The fair value of the Company’s investments in mortgage-backed securities totaled $46.1 billion at September 30,
2013. Of these, $45.5 billion were issued by U.S. agencies and $618 million were issued by private entities
(non-agency securities). The U.S. agency securities are included in securities available for sale and securities held to
maturity and the non-agency securities are included in securities available for sale.

The Company’s investments in corporate debt securities and commercial paper totaled $9.5 billion at September 30,
2013, with the majority issued by institutions in the financial services industry. These securities are included in
securities available for sale, securities held to maturity, cash and cash equivalents, and other securities owned in the
Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets.

The Company’s loans to banking clients include $7.1 billion of adjustable rate first lien residential real estate mortgage
loans at September 30, 2013. The Company’s adjustable rate mortgages have initial fixed interest rates for three to ten
years and interest rates that adjust annually thereafter. Approximately 40% of these mortgages consisted of loans with
interest-only payment terms. The interest rates on approximately 70% of these interest-only loans are not scheduled to
reset for three or more years. The Company’s mortgage loans do not include interest terms described as temporary
introductory rates below current market rates. At September 30, 2013, 46% of the residential real estate mortgages and
50% of the HELOC balances were secured by properties which are located in California.

The Company’s HELOC product has a 30-year loan term with an initial draw period of ten years from the date of
origination. After the initial draw period, the balance outstanding at such time is converted to a 20-year amortizing
loan. The interest rate during the initial draw period and the 20-year amortizing period is a floating rate based on the
prime rate plus a margin. The following table presents when current outstanding HELOCs will convert to amortizing
loans:

September 30, 2013 Balance
Converted to amortizing loan by period end $ 47 
Within 1 year 269 
> 1 year – 3 years 523 
> 3 years – 5 years 1,008 
> 5 years 1,207 
Total $ 3,054 
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The Company also has exposure to concentration risk from its margin and securities lending activities collateralized
by securities of a single issuer or industry. This concentration risk is mitigated by collateral arrangements that require
the fair value of such collateral exceeds the amounts loaned.

The Company has indirect exposure to U.S. Government and agency securities held as collateral to secure its resale
agreements. The Company’s primary credit exposure on these resale transactions is with its counterparty. The
Company would have exposure to the U.S. Government and agency securities only in the event of the counterparty’s
default on the resale agreements. The fair value of U.S. Government and agency securities held as collateral for resale
agreements totaled $13.7 billion at September 30, 2013.
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European Holdings

The Company has exposure to non-sovereign financial and non-financial institutions in Europe. The following table
shows the balances of this exposure by each country in Europe in which the issuer or counterparty is domiciled. The
Company has no direct exposure to sovereign governments in Europe. The Company does not have unfunded
commitments to counterparties in Europe, nor does it have exposure as a result of credit default protection purchased
or sold separately as of September 30, 2013.

Fair Value as of September 30, 2013
United

France Germany Netherlands Norway Sweden Switzerland Kingdom Total
Cash equivalents $ 486 $ - $ - $ 300 $ - $ - $ 200 $ 986 
Cash and investments
segregated and on deposit
for regulatory purposes - 400 - - - - - 400 
Securities available for sale 556 150 358 100 1,347 701 1,364 4,576 
Securities held to maturity - - - - - 100 - 100 
Total fair value $ 1,042 $ 550 $ 358 $ 400 $ 1,347 $ 801 $ 1,564 $ 6,062 
Total amortized cost $ 1,041 $ 550 $ 357 $ 400 $ 1,345 $ 800 $ 1,561 $ 6,054 
Maturities:
Overnight $ 486 $ 400 $ - $ 300 $ - $ - $ 200 $ 1,386 
1 day – < 6 months 400  - 122 - 100 151 901 1,674 
6 months – < 1 year - 150 100 100 200 75 160 785 
1 year – 2 years - - - - 626 425 303 1,354 
> 2 years 156 - 136 - 421 150 - 863 
Total fair value $ 1,042 $ 550 $ 358 $ 400 $ 1,347 $ 801 $ 1,564 $ 6,062 

In addition to the direct holdings of European companies listed above, the Company also has indirect exposure to
Europe through its investments in Schwab sponsored money market funds (collectively, the Funds) resulting from
clearing activities. At September 30, 2013, the Company had $227 million in investments in these Funds. Certain of
the Funds’ positions include certificates of deposits, time deposits, commercial paper and corporate debt securities
issued by counterparties in Europe.
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Critical Accounting ESTIMATES

Certain of the Company’s accounting policies that involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity are discussed
in “Part II – Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Critical
Accounting Estimates” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, as
updated by the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2013, relating to the realignment of the
Company’s reportable segments. There have been no changes to these critical accounting estimates during the first nine
months of 2013.

As disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, as updated by the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 24, 2013, relating to the realignment of the Company’s
reportable segments, the Company’s annual goodwill impairment testing date is April 1. In testing for potential
impairment of goodwill on April 1, 2013, management performed a qualitative assessment of each of the Company’s
reporting units (generally defined as the Company’s businesses for which financial information is available and
reviewed regularly by management) and concluded that goodwill was not impaired.

Forward-Looking Statements

In addition to historical information, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Forward-looking statements are identified by words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “may,”
“estimate,” “appear,” “aim,” “target,” “could,” and other similar expressions. In addition, any statements that refer to
expectations, projections, or other characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

(Tabular Amounts in Millions, Except Ratios, or as Noted)

These forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s beliefs, objectives, and expectations as of the date
hereof, are necessarily estimates based on the best judgment of the Company’s senior management. These statements
relate to, among other things:

· the impact of current market conditions on the Company’s results of operations (see “Item 1 – Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements (Unaudited) – Notes – 2. Securities Available for Sale and Securities Held to Maturity” and
“Current Market and Regulatory Environment and Other Developments”);

· the expected impact of the final regulatory capital rules, which implemented Basel III and relevant provisions of the
Dodd-Frank Act, the Federal Reserve notice of proposed rulemaking, and the NSCC proposed rule change (see
“Current Market and Regulatory Environment and Other Developments”);

· the impact of changes in the likelihood of guarantee payment obligations on the Company’s results of operations (see
“Item 1 – Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) – Notes – 5. Commitments and Contingencies”);

· the impact of legal proceedings and regulatory matters (see “Item 1 – Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited) – Notes – 5. Commitments and Contingencies” and “Part II – Other Information – Item 1 – Legal Proceedings”);

· target capital ratios (see “Item 1 – Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) – Notes – 9. Regulatory
Requirements” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources”);

· sources of liquidity, capital, and level of dividends (see “Liquidity and Capital Resources”); and
· capital expenditures (see “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Capital

Resources”).

Achievement of the expressed beliefs, objectives, and expectations described in these statements is subject to certain
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expressed beliefs, objectives, and
expectations. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak
only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or, in the case of documents incorporated by reference, as of
the date of those documents.

Important factors that may cause actual results to differ include, but are not limited to:

· changes in general economic and financial market conditions;
· changes in revenues and profit margin due to changes in interest rates;
· the Company’s ability to attract and retain clients and grow client assets and relationships;
· the Company’s ability to develop and launch new products, services and capabilities in a timely and successful
manner;

· fluctuations in client asset values due to changes in equity valuations;
· the Company’s ability to monetize client assets;
· the performance or valuation of securities available for sale and securities held to maturity;
· trading activity;
·
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the level of interest rates, including yields available on money market mutual fund eligible
instruments;

· competitive pressures on rates and fees;
· the adverse impact of financial reform legislation and related regulations;
· potential breaches of contractual terms for which the Company has guarantee obligations;
· adverse developments in litigation or regulatory matters;
· amounts recovered on insurance policies;
· the extent of any charges associated with litigation and regulatory matters;
· the amount of loans to the Company’s brokerage and banking clients;
· the level of the Company’s stock repurchase activity;
· capital needs and management;
· the level of field sales volume and related incentive compensation;
· level of expenses;
· acquisition integration costs;
· the level of brokerage client cash balances and deposits from banking clients;
· the availability and terms of external financing; and
· timing and impact of changes in the Company’s level of investments in buildings and software.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

(Tabular Amounts in Millions, Except Ratios, or as Noted)

Certain of these factors, as well as general risk factors affecting the Company, are discussed in greater detail in “Part I
–Item 1A – Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, and
“Part II – Other Information – Item 1A – Risk Factors.”
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Item 3.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the potential for changes in revenue or the value of financial instruments held by the Company as a
result of fluctuations in interest rates, equity prices or market conditions.

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily from changes in market interest rates on its interest-earning
assets relative to changes in the costs of its funding sources that finance these assets. The majority of the Company’s
interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities are sensitive to changes in short-term interest rates. To manage
the Company’s market risk related to interest rates, management utilizes simulation models, which include the net
interest revenue sensitivity analysis described below.

Net interest revenue is affected by various factors, such as the distribution and composition of interest-earning assets
and interest-bearing liabilities, the spread between yields earned on interest-earning assets and rates paid on
interest-bearing liabilities, which may reprice at different times or by different amounts, and the spread between short
and long-term interest rates. Interest-earning assets include residential real estate loans and mortgage-backed
securities. These assets are sensitive to changes in interest rates and to changes to prepayment levels, which tend to
increase in a declining rate environment. Because the Company establishes the rates paid on certain brokerage client
cash balances and deposits from banking clients and the rates charged on margin loans and loans to banking clients,
and controls the composition of its investment securities, it has some ability to manage its net interest spread,
depending on competitive factors and market conditions.

To mitigate the risk of loss, the Company has established policies and procedures which include setting guidelines on
the amount of net interest revenue at risk, and monitoring the net interest margin and average maturity of its
interest-earning assets and funding sources. To remain within these guidelines, the Company manages the maturity,
repricing, and cash flow characteristics of the investment portfolios.

The Company is also subject to market risk as a result of fluctuations in option and equity prices. The Company’s
direct holdings of option and equity securities and its associated exposure to option and equity prices are not material.
The Company is indirectly exposed to option and equity market fluctuations in connection with client option accounts,
securities collateralizing margin loans to brokerage customers, and customer securities loaned out as part of the
Company’s securities lending activities. Equity market valuations may also affect the level of brokerage client trading
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activity, margin borrowing, and overall client engagement with the Company. Additionally, the Company earns
mutual fund service fees and asset management fees based upon daily balances of certain client assets. Fluctuations in
these client asset balances caused by changes in equity valuations directly impact the amount of fee revenue earned by
the Company.

Financial instruments held by the Company are also subject to liquidity risk – that is, the risk that valuations will be
negatively affected by changes in demand and the underlying market for a financial instrument. Recent conditions in
the credit markets have significantly reduced market liquidity in a wide range of financial instruments, including the
types of instruments held by the Company, and fair value can differ significantly from the value implied by the credit
quality and actual performance of the instrument’s underlying cash flows.

Financial instruments held by the Company are also subject to valuation risk as a result of changes in valuations of the
underlying collateral, such as housing prices in the case of residential real estate loans and mortgage-backed securities.

For discussion of the impact of current market conditions on asset management and administration fees and net
interest revenue, see “Item 2 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations –
Current Market and Regulatory Environment and Other Developments.”

The Company’s market risk related to financial instruments held for trading is not material.

Net Interest Revenue Simulation

For the Company’s net interest revenue sensitivity analysis, the Company uses net interest revenue simulation
modeling techniques to evaluate and manage the effect of changing interest rates. The simulation includes all
interest-sensitive assets and liabilities. Key variables in the simulation include the repricing of financial instruments,
prepayment, reinvestment, and product pricing assumptions. The Company uses constant balances and market rates in
the simulation assumptions in order to minimize the number of variables and to better isolate risks. The simulations
involve assumptions that are inherently
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uncertain and, as a result, cannot precisely estimate net interest revenue or predict the impact of changes in interest
rates on net interest revenue. Actual results may differ from simulated results due to balance growth or decline and the
timing, magnitude, and frequency of interest rate changes, as well as changes in market conditions and management
strategies, including changes in asset and liability mix.

If the Company’s guidelines for its net interest revenue sensitivity are breached, management must report the breach to
the Company’s Corporate Asset-Liability Management and Pricing Committee (Corporate ALCO) and establish a plan
to address the interest rate risk. This plan could include, but is not limited to, rebalancing certain investment portfolios
or using derivative instruments to mitigate the interest rate risk. Depending on the severity and expected duration of
the breach, as well as the then current interest rate environment, the plan could also be to take no action. Any plan that
recommends taking action is required to be approved by the Company’s Corporate ALCO. There were no breaches of
the Company’s net interest revenue sensitivity guidelines during the first nine months of 2013 or year-ending
December 31, 2012.

As represented by the simulations presented below, the Company’s investment strategy is structured to produce an
increase in net interest revenue when interest rates rise and, conversely, a decrease in net interest revenue when
interest rates fall (i.e., interest-earning assets generally reprice more quickly than interest-bearing liabilities).

The simulations in the following table assume that the asset and liability structure of the consolidated balance sheet
would not be changed as a result of the simulated changes in interest rates. As the Company actively manages its
consolidated balance sheet and interest rate exposure, in all likelihood the Company would take steps to manage any
additional interest rate exposure that could result from changes in the interest rate environment. The following table
shows the results of a gradual 100 basis point increase or decrease in market interest rates relative to the Company’s
current market rates forecast on simulated net interest revenue over the next 12 months beginning September 30, 2013
and December 31, 2012.

September
30,

December
31,

2013 2012
Increase of 100 basis points 11.6 % 19.2 % 
Decrease of 100 basis points (5.3) % (10.0)%
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The sensitivities shown in the simulation reflect the fact that short-term interest rates in the first nine months of 2013
remained at historically low levels, including the federal funds target rate, which was unchanged at a range of zero to
0.25%. The current low interest rate environment limits the extent to which the Company can reduce interest expense
paid on funding sources in a declining interest rate scenario. A decline in interest rates could therefore negatively
impact the yield on the Company’s investment portfolio to a greater degree than any offsetting reduction in interest
expense, further compressing net interest margin. Any increases in short-term interest rates result in a greater impact
as yields on interest-earning assets are expected to rise faster than the cost of funding sources. 

Item 4.Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures: The management of the Company, with the participation of the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of
September 30, 2013. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2013.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting: No change in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) was identified during the quarter
ended September 30, 2013, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART  II  -  OTHER  INFORMATION

Item 1.Legal Proceedings

For a discussion of legal proceedings, see “Part I – Financial Information – Item 1 – Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements (Unaudited) – Notes – 5. Commitments and Contingencies.”

Item 1A.Risk Factors

During the first nine months of 2013, there have been no material changes to the risk factors in “Part I – Item 1A – Risk
Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Item 2.Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table summarizes purchases made by or on behalf of CSC of its common stock for each calendar month
in the third quarter of 2013:
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Total Number Approximate
of Shares Purchased Dollar Value of

Total Number as Part of Publicly Shares that May
of Shares Average Announced Yet be Purchased
Purchased Price Paid Program (1) Under the Program

Month (in thousands) per Share (in thousands) (in millions)
July:
Share repurchase program (1)  - $  -  - $ 596 
Employee transactions (2) 5 $ 21.49 N/A N/A
August:
Share repurchase program (1)  - $  -  - $ 596 
Employee transactions (2) 1 $ 22.59 N/A N/A
September:
Share repurchase program (1)  - $  -  - $ 596 
Employee transactions (2) 2 $ 21.31 N/A N/A
Total:
Share repurchase program (1)  - $  -  - $ 596 
Employee transactions (2) 8 $ 21.64 N/A N/A

(1) There were no share repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program during the third quarter. Repurchases under
this program would occur under two authorizations by CSC’s Board of Directors, each covering up to $500 million
of common stock that were publicly announced by the Company on April 25, 2007 and March 13, 2008. The
remaining authorizations do not have an expiration date.

(2) Includes restricted shares withheld (under the terms of grants under employee stock incentive plans) to offset tax
withholding obligations that occur upon vesting and release of restricted shares. The Company may receive shares
delivered or attested to pay the exercise price and/or to satisfy tax withholding obligations by employees who
exercise stock options (granted under employee stock incentive plans), which are commonly referred to as stock
swap exercises.

N/A Not applicable.
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Item 3.Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5.Other Information

None.
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Item 6.Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Exhibit
Number Exhibit

10.317 Form of Notice and Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Walter W. Bettinger under The Charles
Schwab Corporation 2004 Stock Incentive Plan dated October 1, 2008. (1)

12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and
Preferred Stock Dividends.

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (2)

32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (2)

101.INS XBRL Instance Document (3)

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema (3)

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation (3)

101.DEF XBRL Extension Definition (3)

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label (3)

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation (3)
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(1) Management contract or compensatory plan.

(2) Furnished as an exhibit to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

(3) Attached as Exhibit 101 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2013 are the following materials formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting
Language) (i) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii) the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iv) the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

THE CHARLES SCHWAB CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: November 6, 2013 /s/ Joseph R. Martinetto
Joseph R. Martinetto
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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